# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

between the

# HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

and the

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2026

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Article 1	Preamble	6
Article 2	Recognition	7
Article 3	Employer's Rights	9
Article 4	Union Shop	10
Article 5	Employee Status Definitions	12
Article 6	Work of the Bargaining Unit	14
Article 7	Human Rights	
Article 8	Seniority	17
Article 9	Staffing	
Article 10	Hours of Work	
Article 11	Overtime	
Article 12	Layoff and Recall	
Article 13	Grievance Resolution	40
Article 14	Discipline, Suspension and Discharge	
Article 15	Sick Leave	46
Article 16	Leaves of Absence	
Article 17	Bereavement Leave	
Article 18	Leave for Jury Duty	59
Article 19	Holidays	60
Article 20	Vacation	61
Article 21	Proper Accommodation	63
Article 22	Personnel File	64
Article 23	Job Classification and Reclassification	65
Article 24	Labour Management Committee	67
Article 25	Medically Related Procedures & Behaviour Management Support	68
Article 26	Clothing and Equipment	
Article 27	Occupational Health and Safety	
Article 28	Technological and Other Changes Complete	72
Article 29	Professional Development and Incentive Grants	73
Article 30	Payment of Wages & Allowance	75
Article 31	Pension Plan	78
Article 32	Benefit Plan	79
Article 33	Compensable Accident	80
Article 34	Deferred Salary Leave	81

Article 35	Liability Insurance			
Article 36	Effect of Legislation	85		
Article 37	Entire Agreement	86		
Article 38	Duration	87		
Article 39	No Strike/No Lock-Out	88		
Article 40	Benefit and Binding	89		
Letter of Und	erstanding #1 - Duty to Accommodate	90		
Letter of Und	lerstanding #2 - Redundancies Pursuant to Article 9.03 ( c)			
Letter of Und	erstanding #3 - Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.02(a)			
Letter of Und	erstanding #4 - Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.05(a)			
Letter of Understanding #5 - Re: Employment Equity				
Letter of Und	erstanding #6 - First Aid and CPR			
Letter of Und	erstanding #7 - Special Leave for Union Business			
Memorandum of Agreement #1 - Workload and Staffing 100				
Memorandun	n of Understanding #1 - Violence in the Workplace	101		
Schedule "A"	- Sataries	102		
Schedule "B"	- Request for Functional Information	105		
Letter re: EC	Es	107		

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS (Alphabetic)**

Repetit and Rinding	Article 40	89		
-	Article 32			
	Article 17			
	Article 26			
-	Article 33			
•	Article 34			
•	Article 14			
	Article 38			
	Letter of Understanding #1			
-				
-	Article 36			
	Article 5			
	Article 3			
	Letter of Understanding #5			
7	Article 37			
	,Letter of Understanding #6			
	Article 13			
Ŧ	Article 19			
	Article 10			
—	Article 7			
Job Classification and Reclassification Article 23				
Labour Management Committee	Article 24	67		
Layoff and Recall	Article 12	36		
Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.02(a)	Letter of Understanding #3	. 93		
Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.05(a)	Letter of Understanding #4	. 95		
Leave for Jury Duty	Article 18	59		
Leaves of Absence	Article 16	49		
Letter re: ECE's		107		
Liability Insurance	Article 35	84		
Medically Related Procedures and				
Behaviour Management Support	Article 25	. 68		
-				

No Strike/No Lock-Out	Article 39
Occupational Health and Safety	Article 27
Overtime	Article 11
Payment of Wages and Allowance	Article 30
Pension Plan	Article 31
Personnel File	Article 2264
Preamble	Article 16
Professional Development and Incentive Grants	Article 29
Proper Accommodation	Article 21
Recognition	Article 2
Redundancies Pursuant to Article 9.03(	c) Letter of Understanding #2 92
Request for Functional Information	Schedute "B"105
Salaries	Schedule *A"102
Seniority	Article 8
Sick Leave	Article 15
Special Leave for Union Business	Letter of Understanding #7 99
Staffing	Article 9
Technological and Other Changes	Article 28
Union Shop	Article 4
Vacation	Article 20
Violence in the Workplace	. Memorandum of Understanding #1101
Workload and Staffing	Memorandum of Agreement #`1100
Mark of the Decemining Light	Article 6

# Article 1 Preamble

- 1.01 Whereas this agreement is entered into by the Halifax Regional Centre for Education ("Employer") and the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 5047("Union") for the purpose of setting out the agreement reached by them in relation to rates of pay, hours of work and certain other conditions of employment.
- 1.02 In recognition of the foregoing, the Parties have agreed to specific terms hereinafter contained.

### Article 2 Recognition

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining agent for all of its Employees pursuant to the Labour Relations Board Orders #6410 and #1979 of the Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board and including all other Employees for which the Union and the Employer have mutually agreed shall be included in the bargaining unit.
- 2.02 Persons whose jobs (paid or unpaid) are not in the bargaining unit shall not normally work on jobs which are included in the bargaining unit or are similar to the job of any bargaining unit member except that; the Parties recognize the existing practices of the use of volunteers insofar as these practices do not result in layoff, downgrading or loss of hours to members of the bargaining unit, or in the reduction in the size or jurisdiction of the unit. The Union recognizes the Employer may, as a result of community interest, increase the use of volunteers so long as such increase does not result in layoff, downgrading or loss of hours to members of the use of volunteers so long as such increase does not result in layoff, downgrading or loss of hours to members of the bargaining unit, or in the reduction in the size or jurisdiction of the unit.
- 2.03 No Employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or their representative which may conflict with the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- 2.04 The Union shall have the right at any time to have the assistance of representatives or any other advisors not on the Employer's payroll when dealing or negotiating with the Employer. Such representative(s)/advisor(s) shall have access to the Employer's premises after gaining prior approval of the Employer; such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld in order to deal with any matters arising out of this Collective Agreement.
- 2.05 (a) Union officers and committee members who receive prior authorization from their supervisor, shall be entitled to leave their work during working hours in order to carry out their function under this agreement, including but not limited to the investigation and processing of grievances, arbitrations, and attendance at meetings called by the Employer. Such authorization shall not be unreasonably withheld.
  - (b) All time spent in performing such Union duties, including work performed on Employer/Union committees, shall be considered as time worked and paid in accordance with the normal work day. No overtime will be paid for such activities.
  - (c) The Union may appoint a collective bargaining Committee which shall consist of not more than five (5) Employees appointed by the Union. The Union may appoint additional bargaining Committee members, however, such members shall not be compensated by the Employer. The Employer shall be advised of the names of the Committee Members prior to the commencement of negotiations. The Union members so selected shall not suffer any loss of regularly scheduled pay or other benefits for time spent in meetings with the

Employer in negotiations for a new Collective Agreement, but no compensation shall be paid for any time outside regular working hours.

# Article 3 Employer's Rights

- 3.01 The Employer shall have the right to manage the operation of the Centre for Education, its services and programs. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and notwithstanding other provisions of the Collective Agreement, the Employer shall have the right to determine:
  - (a) organizational structure;
  - (b) complement;
  - (c) work methods and procedures;
  - (d) kinds and locations of equipment;
  - (e) facilities and buildings;
  - (f) hours of work, scheduling, assignment, training, classification, redundancy and evaluation of Employees;
  - (g) promotion, demotion, lay-off and discharge of Employees; and
  - (h) discipline.
- 3.02 The Employer shall not exercise its rights in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement or in an arbitrary manner.
- 3.03 The Employer shall have the right to identify the supervisor for each classification within the job description. Where the supervisor is other than that identified in the job description, the employees in that classification will be notified in writing.

# Article 4 Union Shop

- 4.01 (a) It shall be a condition of employment that an Employee shall become and remain a member of the Union, and the Employer shall deduct and forward to the Union all initiation fees, dues, assessments, and benefit payments levied from time to time by the Union.
  - (b) Deductions shall commence with the Employee's first pay.
- 4.02 (a) The Employer shall make the deductions set out in Article 4.01 from each Employee, on each pay and shall transmit them to the National Secretary-Treasurer, Canadian Union of Public Employees, 1375 St. Laurent Blvd., Ottawa, ON, K1G 0Z7.
  - (b) An electronic statement, accompanied by a list of the names, addresses, phone numbers and Employer-assigned email addresses for Employees from whom deductions have been made, shall be sent to the Union no later than the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day each month. The employer will inform the union of employees added or deleted.
- 4.03 The Employer agrees to acquaint potential Employees with the fact that a Collective Agreement is in effect by including on job postings a reference to the Union and a link to the CUPE Local 5047 and HRCE Collective Agreement.
- 4.04 (a) The Employer shall provide orientation information for new bargaining unit Employees, and provide them with a copy of all pension and benefit information as provided by the plan Administrator(s). The Employer will also provide new Employees who make a request with a printed copy of the Collective Agreement.
  - (b) The Employer will provide the Union with the name, address and worksite(s) of all new Employees covered by the Collective Agreement within ten (10) business days and the employer assigned email within 30 days.
- 4.05 At the same time that income tax (T-4) slips are made available, the Employer shall include on all T-4 slips the total amount of Union dues deducted from each Union member in the previous year. A separate statement shall be provided by the Employer with the T-4 slips if the T-4's do not have a space for Union dues.
- 4.06 The Employer shall provide designated space on bulletin boards which shall be placed so that all Employees will have access to them and upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and other such notices as may be of interest to the Employees. The Employer shall also provide mailboxes for each Employee. The Employer shall take reasonable steps to ensure that correspondence addressed to individual Employees and received at the site is placed in the individual's mailbox. The employer will provide each Employee with an email address to receive correspondence.

- 4.07 Union representatives are entitled to distribute Union literature and to convene Union meetings on the Employer's premises during non-working hours. The Employer reserves the right to charge a fee if the timing of the meeting would incur additional costs to the Employer.
- 4.08 The Union and the Employer recognize that every new employee should be familiar with the provisions of this Agreement and their rights within it. The Union will be provided with up to three (3) hours per school year on a mutually agreed upon inservice day to provide new employees with an orientation to the Agreement. The employer shall provide an appropriate location for such an orientation. Such time shall be considered work time, but no mileage will be paid to employees for travel to or from the orientation.

#### Article 5 Employee Status Definitions

- 5.01 Permanent full-time Employee means an Employee who is a member of the bargaining unit and is regularly scheduled to work full-time hours in a permanent position.
- 5.02 Permanent part-time Employee means an Employee who is a member of the bargaining unit and is regularly scheduled to work less than full-time hours in a permanent position.
- 5.03 Full-time hours mean the normal regularly scheduled hours of work in accordance with Article (10) Hours of Work.
- 5.04 (a) "Term position" means a position with a specific start and end date, the duration of which is known in advance to exceed ninety (90) calendar days in a school year.
  - (b) A permanent Employee who fills a term position shall be entitled to all the rights and benefits of this Collective Agreement.

#### Article 5 - Employee Status Definitions

- 5.05 (a) "Term Employee" means an Employee (other than a permanent Employee) who is hired to work in a term position as defined in Article 5.04 (a). Term Employees shall be members of the bargaining unit with restricted rights and benefits of this Collective Agreement as follows:
  - (i) sick leave,
  - (ii) bereavement leave,
  - (iii) leave for jury duty,
  - (iv) holidays,
  - (v) benefit plan, and
  - (vi) payment of wages and allowances
  - (vii) assessment days entitled to one assessment day off with pay provided the day falls within the employee's term
  - (viii) an in-service day, pursuant to 29.04-paid day at in-service provided the day falls within the employee's term
  - (ix) discipline, suspension and discharge
  - (x) 12-month term employees will accumulate vacation time in

accordance with Article 20. Vacations shall be taken in the year accumulated unless the Employee is prevented by injury, serious illness or other circumstances beyond the Employee's control from taking vacation in that year. Payment in lieu of unused vacation will be paid out.

(xi) paid breaks of the employee they are replacing where operationally possible.

in accordance with the relevant Articles in this Collective Agreement.

- (b) A Term Employee who becomes a permanent Employee shall be credited with seniority back to the latest date of hire as a term Employee from which unbroken service commenced and will not be placed on the seniority list until hired as a Permanent Employee.
- 5.06 "Substitute Employee" means an Employee who is employed to temporarily fill an assignment occupied by a permanent Employee or a term Employee, or to fill an assignment until such time as the assignment is permanently filled or filled as a term position.

Substitute employees are members of the bargaining unit with restricted rights and privileges as defined herein:

- (a) They shall be subject to call for work at the discretion of the Employer and may be disciplined, terminated, or dismissed if they have not performed to reasonable standards.
- (b) They shall have all rights pursuant to Nova Scotia Labour Standards Code.
- (c) They shall only be entitled to have a Union representative present during a meeting that may result in discipline.
- (d) The rate of pay shall be reflective of Step 1 or their respective classification as per the salary scales in Schedule A of the Collective Agreement.
- (e) They shall be entitled to the paid breaks of the employee they are replacing where operationally possible.

# Article 6 Work of the Bargaining Unit

- 6.01 The Employer recognizes the importance of job security to members of the bargaining unit and their instructional role in the educational system.
- 6.02 The Employer will not contract out work normally performed by members of the bargaining unit, except in the following circumstances:
  - (a) in those instances where in order for a student to attend school they must be accompanied by a licensed medical professional;
  - (b) in those instances where the student must be accompanied by an individual appointed by the court or on the express recommendation of medical personnel;

The Employer will provide the Union, in writing, as much notice as possible prior to contracting out services under this Article. Such notice shall be provided to the Union President and Union Chairperson of the Labour Management Committee.

- 6.03 The Employer will make reasonable efforts to ensure that any bargaining unit members affected by the contracting out obtain jobs with the contractor to whom the work is contracted.
- 6.04 Employees affected pursuant to Article 6.02 shall be treated in accordance with Article 12, Layoff and Recall.
- 6.05 In the event of amalgamation, annexation, dissolution or other change in the Halifax Regional Centre for Education jurisdiction, this Collective Agreement covering the bargaining unit shall continue in full force and effect, and the Centre for Education or other authority employing Employees of this bargaining unit shall be deemed to be the Employer under the existing Collective Agreement for the duration of the agreement or until a new Collective Agreement is reached between the new Centre for Education or other authority.
- 6.06 (a) The Employer will maintain a minimum of two hundred eighty-one (281) permanent full-time one hundred percent (100%) Educational Program Assistant positions for the life of this Collective Agreement. Full-time one hundred percent (100%) Educational Program Assistant vacancies that are posted as term positions pursuant to article 9.02 (c) will be in addition to the minimum two hundred eighty-one (281) EPA positions identified in this article.
  - (b) The Employer will maintain a minimum of thirty-seven (37) permanent full-time one hundred percent (100%) Library Support Specialist positions for the life of this Collective Agreement.

(c) The Employer will maintain a minimum of four (4) permanent full-time one hundred percent (100%) Student Support Worker/African Nova Scotian Student Support Worker positions for the life of this Collective Agreement.

# Article 7 Human Rights

- 7.01 In accordance with the *Nova Scotia Human Rights Act*, the Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination exercised or practiced with respect to any Employee in the matter of hiring, assigning wage rate, training, upgrading, promotion, transfer, lay-off, recall, discipline, classification, discharge or any other action by reason of age, race, creed, colour, ancestry, national origin, religion, political affiliations or activity, sexual orientation, gender, marital or parental status, family relationship, physical disability, nor by reason of their membership or activity in the Union.
- 7.02 Employees will not be asked or required to do personal services which are not connected with the operation of the Employer.
- 7.03 The Employer and the Union agree to be bound by the Employer's Respectful Workplace (Harassment) Policy which is in place at the signing of this Collective Agreement. The Employer agrees to permit Employees an opportunity for union representation if required by the Employee at any step of an investigation.

### Article 8 Seniority

8.01 Seniority is defined as the length of service in the bargaining unit and shall include service with the Employer or predecessor employer prior to the certification or recognition of the Union for the School Board Employees affected by the 1996 Halifax Regional School Board amalgamation. Seniority shall be used for filling positions, lay-off, permanent reduction of the workforce, location of work, and recall as set out in the other provisions of this Collective Agreement. Seniority shall operate on a bargaining unit wide basis.

#### Probationary Employees

- 8.02 (a) All newly hired Employees shall be on probation for a period of one hundred and twenty (120) working days from the date of hire. The probationary period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. Upon successful completion of the probationary period, the Employee's name shall be placed on the Employer's seniority list effective the first day of the probationary period.
  - (b) All reasonable efforts shall be made to inform probationary Employees of work performance concerns and, when possible, the Employee shall be given the opportunity to improve.
- 8.03 There shall be no responsibility on the part of the Employer with respect to the employment of probationary Employees discharged during the probationary period, and in such cases probationary Employees may not avail themselves of the grievance and arbitration procedure.
- 8.04 Subject to Article 8.03, the Employee shall be entitled to all other rights and benefits of this Collective Agreement during the probationary period.

# Seniority List

- 8.05 The Employer shall, by February 15<sup>th</sup> of each year, post the updated seniority list on the Employer's secure intranet and email Employees directly via their HRCE email address to notify them that the seniority list has been posted including a link to the Employer's secure intranet and directions on how to access the list, and supply a copy of the updated Seniority list to each site and supply a copy of the updated list to the Union office. The updated list shall show the name of the Employee, the date of hire, seniority date and the Employee's classification. The Union's copy of the list will include site and percentage for each Employee.
- 8.06 Challenges regarding errors or omissions to the posted seniority list shall be made in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of the posting of the list. Challenges may only be made by Employees newly added to the list or Employees whose seniority has changed since the last list. All Employees who challenge their seniority shall receive a response from the Employer confirming their seniority date.

- 8.07 When two or more Employees are hired on the same day, the names will be drawn in the presence of two Union representatives. The first name drawn shall be the most senior and subsequent draws will indicate the descending order of seniority.
- 8.08 Prior to June 1, the Employer shall provide the Union an updated seniority list showing the name of the Employee, the date of hire, seniority in years, site and percentage and the Employee's classification. There shall be no challenges to this seniority list.

#### Loss of Seniority

(a)

8.09

- An Employee will lose all seniority rights and privileges in the event the Employee:
  - (i) is discharged for just cause and not subsequently reinstated;
  - (ii) resigns in writing and does not withdraw such resignation within three
     (3) working days;
  - (iii) is not recalled to work within twenty-four (24) consecutive months after a layoff;
  - (iv) is absent without leave for three (3) days without permission or notice giving an acceptable reason for the absence except in exceptional circumstances.
- (b) An Employee will lose all seniority rights and privileges after six (6) months in a non-bargaining unit position with the Halifax Regional Centre for Education.

#### Seniority While on Leave

8.10 An Employee shall continue to accrue seniority while on maternity leave, parental leave, deferred salary leave, and Workers' Compensation, while on periods of approved long-term disability and any period leading up to the approval of such claims.

Any Employee returning from one of the above-referenced leaves shall be returned to their former position or equivalent position without loss of seniority and at the wage rate of the former position. When a period of long-term disability exceeds twenty-four (24) months, the original position will be declared vacant and posted in accordance with Article 9. Upon return, the Employee will be placed in an equivalent position. Any other Employee promoted, transferred or temporarily assigned to the position of the Employee returning from leave shall be returned to their former position or equivalent position without loss of seniority and at the wage rate of their former position.

8.11 Seniority shall not accumulate during any unpaid personal leave in excess of one year except where provided for in other Articles of this Collective Agreement.

8.12 Should an Employee who has accepted a non-bargaining unit position with the Halifax Regional Centre for Education prove unsatisfactory or choose not to remain in the position during the six (6) month period in 8.09(b), they shall be returned to their former position or equivalent position and location without loss of seniority and at the wage rate of the former position. Any other Employee promoted or transferred because of this rearrangement of positions shall be returned to their former position or equivalent position without loss of seniority and at the position or equivalent position without loss of seniority and at the returned to their former position.

#### Article 9 Staffing

#### Job Postings

- 9.01 (a) In filling positions within the bargaining unit, the Employer recognizes that job opportunities should increase in proportion to the length of service. Appointments among applicants from the same classification will be made on the basis of seniority, provided the Employee meets the qualifications as required for the position and competencies as set out in the job description. Appointments among applicants from other classifications will be made on the basis of qualifications as required for the position and competencies as set out in the job description.
  - (b) Qualifications shall not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner. Any training requirements shall be determined by the Employer.
  - (c) An Employee shall apply for postings indicating their order of preference by completing an online application clearly setting forth qualifications and competencies for each assignment. Only the information provided at the time of application will be considered.
  - (d) Job postings will remain on the Halifax Regional Centre for Education Human Resources website for three (3) business days, plus a weekend, in each of the posting periods. This would be a total of five (5) days for the posting period in each round.

However, job postings in the Final Round of Postings only will remain on the Halifax Regional Centre for Education Human Resources website for three (3) calendar days.

- (e) The Employer shall have five (5) business days to post successful internal applicants and until August 31 to post successful external applicants, on the HRCE website.
- (f) External applicants will not be eligible for any permanent positions until all internal applicants have been given the opportunity to apply for and/or be trained for any permanent vacancy, providing the training can be completed within the first week of school or the first week of employment if hired after the beginning of the school year.
- 9.02 (a) The job posting will contain classification title, duties, required knowledge and education, skills, hours of work, salary range, location(s), duration if term, medically related procedures (as per Article 25.01), the nature of personal care required, behaviour management support and *bona fide* occupational requirements. An Employee may be required to take job-specific training, as identified in the job posting, provided by the Employer, after they have been appointed to a position. Employees may be required to take other training provided by the Employer as circumstances change.

- (b) A position (that is non-gender specific) posted in the First Round as permanent and unfilled will remain permanent in the Final Round posting. Any EPA position not posted in the permanent rounds will be posted as a term.
- (c) All gender specific positions will be posted as terms during the two rounds of postings and thereafter.
- (d) The Union may, at any Labour management Committee meeting, request the Employer to provide an explanation as to why it has placed a required designation upon an EPA position.
- (e) The Employer agrees to engage in a meaningful discussion with the Union respecting the confidentiality of the student in response to any questions posed pursuant to this article.

#### End of School Year Staffing Allocations

- 9.03 (a) The Employer will determine budgeted allocations for all sites annually. Staffing changes may also be required during the annual staffing allocation where there is a substantial change to the needs at a site and the current Employees do not have the required qualifications and competencies; current Employees will be considered qualified, provided the training can be completed within a reasonable number of days. Current Employees who are unwilling or unable to be trained will be declared redundant. In the event a substantial change occurs, the Union may request and the Employer shall provide reasons for the substantial change.
  - (b) An Employee is considered redundant when, during the annual staffing process, an Employee's position is reduced. Redundancies may result from allocations at a site being increased to one hundred percent (100%) from a lower percentage.
  - (c) For the purpose of determining the Employee(s) to be declared redundant at a site, the least senior Employee(s) at the site shall be declared redundant provided the senior Employee(s) can meet the qualifications and competencies for the positions which remain at the site.
  - (d) At locations where there is a single Employee in any classification other than Educational Program Assistant-article 12.04 will apply.
  - (e) If the redundant or reduced position is occupied on a term basis, the term position will automatically terminate and the Employee filling the term position shall return to their previous status.
  - (f) The Employer will provide redundant employees with written notice seven days prior to the first round of jobs being posted.
- 9.04 A site shall be defined as all locations for which one principal or supervisor is responsible.

- 9.05 Seven days prior to the first round of jobs being posted, the Employer shall provide the Union with the following information:
  - (a) a notification of employees who have been declared redundant or reduced; the percentage of reduction; and those Employees on layoff; in the event of a reduction in the overall workforce, the least senior Employees identified at a site for redundancy in order to accomplish the overall layoff.
  - (b) available assignments which have been identified and allocated for the following school year (including existing term positions which have been identified as permanent positions for the following school year and full school year term positions) together with the qualifications and competencies required for those assignments; in the event of a reduction in the overall workforce, the assignments vacated at a site as a result of layoffs.

#### <u>First Round of Postings: Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner,</u> <u>Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker, Assistive</u> <u>Technology Support Worker Positions</u>

- 9.06 The First Round of Postings will occur no later than the second full week of June and will be open to all permanent Employees. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01 and awarded in accordance with seniority and qualifications. Employees shall be given an opportunity to apply for all assignment(s), including those available as a result of an Employee vacating a position (as a result of resignation, retirement, leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days and termination or death) or newly created positions. All vacant permanent positions will be posted in the First Round of Postings.
- 9.07 An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.06 and is awarded an assignment pursuant to 9.01(a) must accept that assignment.
- 9.08 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the First Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.

Final Round of Postings: Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner, Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker, Assistive Technology Support Worker Positions

9.09 (a) The Final Round of Postings will occur within fourteen (14) days of the first round being posted and will be open to all permanent, term and external applicants. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01 and awarded in accordance with seniority and qualifications. Assignments which were not filled in the First Round of Postings or become available as a result of an Employee applying for and obtaining an assignment in the First Round of Postings, and any new positions created since that time as a result of reinstatement or increase in funding, new student enrollments, leaves of

absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days, resignations, retirement, termination or death shall be posted in the Final Round of Postings. For the purpose of this Article, a term applicant is an Employee who held a term position during the current school year; such term applicant will be given preference for positions before external applicants for positions that are posted prior to July 31.

- (b) An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.09 and is awarded an assignment pursuant to 9.01(a) must accept it.
- (c) Positions that are not filled by internal permanent applicants in the Final Round of Postings may be filled by term and external applicants. All term applicants will be considered prior to considering any external applicants. A position filled by an external applicant that was posted as permanent shall be filled on a permanent basis.
- (d) In the event that, following consideration of qualifications as required for the position and competencies as set out in the job description, two term applicants are relatively equal, the term applicant with the longest period of consecutive term service with the Employer shall be awarded the position.
- 9.10 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the Final Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.
- 9.11 A Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner, Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker or Assistive Technology Support Worker who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.09 and is awarded an assignment pursuant to 9.01(a) must accept it and may only apply for subsequent postings pursuant to Article 9.16 and 9.17.
- 9.12 An Employee who remains reduced at the end of the Final Round of Postings shall be issued a layoff notice pursuant to Article 12.
- 9.13 If a term applicant receives a permanent position in the Final Round of Postings, they are not able to move into a different permanent position in subsequent rounds (because they are not considered a permanent employee until August 1).
- 9.14 If a term applicant is awarded a position for which they applied in the Final Round of Postings before a position to which they applied in the First Round of Postings has been filled, the applicant shall have until September 30 to inquire about their application.

Positions Posted After the Final Rounds of Postings: Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner, Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker, Assistive Technology Support Worker Positions

- 9.15 When permanent Library Support Specialist, Student Support Worker, Community Outreach Worker, Child and Youth Care Practitioner or Assistive Technology Support Worker assignments are identified and allocated after the completion of the Final Round of Postings, the assignments shall be posted as permanent positions.
- 9.16 Permanent Library Support Specialists, permanent Student Support Workers, permanent Community Outreach Workers and permanent Child and Youth Care Practitioners and Assistive Technology Support Workers may move to new permanent assignments through the posting process throughout the school year.
- 9.17 (a) A term Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner, Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker, Assistive Technology Support Worker may only apply for term positions that commence following the end date of their current term position.
  - (b) Notwithstanding (a) above, in exceptional circumstances, a term Library Support Specialist, Child and Youth Care Practitioner, Schools Plus Community Outreach Worker, Student Support Worker, Assistive Technology Support Worker may accept a permanent position before the end date of their current term with agreement by the Union and Employer.
  - (c) A permanent Library Support Specialist, a permanent Student Support Worker, a permanent Community Outreach Worker, Child and Youth Care Practitioner or Assistive Technology Support Worker may apply for a term position.
- 9.18 A permanent Employee who is awarded an assignment in accordance with Article 9.01 (a) must accept that assignment.
- 9.19 Should a position not be filled by an internal applicant it may be filled by a term or external applicant.
- 9.20 At the end of any term, a permanent Employee shall return to their original assignment provided the allocation exists.
- 9.21 External candidates will not be eligible for any term positions until all permanent employees have been given the opportunity to apply for and/or be trained for any term vacancy, providing the training can be completed within a reasonable number of days after commencement.

### First Round of Postings: Early Childhood Educator Positions

- 9.22
- (a) The First Round of Postings will occur no later than the second full week of June and will be open to all permanent and term Employees. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01. Employees shall be given an opportunity to apply for all assignment(s), including those available as a result of an Employee vacating a position (as a result of resignation, retirement, leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days and termination or death) or newly created positions. All vacant permanent positions will be posted in the First Round of Postings.
  - (b) Permanent Employees will be awarded positions in accordance with seniority and qualifications.
  - (c) Term applicants will be placed after Permanent Employees, in order of hire date, so long as they held a Term position during the current school year. For clarity, Term applicants will only be placed if there is no discipline or documented performance concerns on their personnel file during the current term. Where two term applicants have the same hire date, the applicant with the earliest 400# will be awarded the position.
- 9.23 An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.24 and is awarded an assignment must accept that assignment.
- 9.24 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the First Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.

#### Final Round of Postings: Early Childhood Educator Positions

- 9.25 (a) The Final Round of Postings will occur within fourteen (14) days of the first round being posted and will be open to all permanent, term and external applicants. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01. Assignments which were not filled in the First Round of Postings or become available as a result of an Employee applying for and obtaining an assignment in the First Round of Postings, and any new positions created since that time as a result of reinstatement or increase in funding, new student enrollments, leaves of absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days, resignations, retirement, termination or death shall be posted in the Final Round of Postings.
  - (b) Permanent Employees will be awarded positions in accordance with seniority and qualifications.
  - (c) Term applicants will be placed after Permanent Employees, in order of hire date, so long as they held a Term position during the current school year. For clarity, Term applicants will only be placed if there is no discipline or documented performance concerns on their personnel file during the current

term. Where two term applicants have the same hire date, the applicant with the earliest 400# will be awarded the position. Term applicants will only be placed in the Final Round of Postings and any postings that close in August.

- 9.26 An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.25 and is awarded an assignment must accept it.
- 9.27 Positions that are not filled by permanent or term applicants in the Final Round of Postings may be filled by external applicants. All term applicants will be considered prior to considering any external applicants. A position filled by an external applicant that was posted as permanent shall be filled on a permanent basis.
- 9.28 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the Final Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.
- 9.29 An Employee who remains reduced at the end of the Final Round of Postings shall be issued a layoff notice pursuant to Article 12.
- 9.30 If a term Early Childhood Educator secures a term Early Childhood Educator position in the same classification in the First Round of Postings, they are eligible to be awarded a permanent Early Childhood Educator position in the same classification in the Final Round of Postings.
- 9.31 If a term applicant receives a permanent Early Childhood Educator position in the same classification in the Final Round of Postings, they are not able to move into a different term Early Childhood Educator position in the same classification in any subsequent rounds.

#### Early Childhood Educator Positions posted during the school year August - May):

- 9.32 Permanent and term Early Childhood Educator positions may be posted throughout the school year.
- 9.33 A permanent or term Early Childhood Educator cannot move to another Early Childhood Educator position (whether term or permanent) during the school year, other than as follows:
  - (a) A permanent Early Childhood Educator, other than those for which Article 9.31 applies, may only move to a different Early Childhood Educator position once. A term position must extend to the end of the school year.

- (b) A term Early Childhood Educator may only move to a term Early Childhood Educator position that begins after their current term position ends.
- (c) A term Early Childhood Educator may move to a permanent Early Childhood Educator position before the end date of their current term. Term applicants will only be considered if there is no discipline or documented performance concerns on their personnel file. A term Early Childhood Educator will have preference over external candidates when competition results are relatively equal in the merit based process. Notwithstanding Article 9.33 (a), no further movement will be permitted for the remainder of the school year.
- 9.34 (a) A permanent Employee who is awarded an assignment in accordance with Article 9.01 (a) must accept that assignment.
  - (b) A term Employee who is awarded an assignment in August in accordance with Article 9.01 (a) must accept that assignment.
  - (c) Should a position not be filled by an internal applicant it may be filled by an external applicant.

#### First Round of Postings: Educational Program Assistant Positions

- 9.35 (a) The First Round of Postings will occur no later than the second full week of June and will be open to all permanent and term Employees. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01. Employees shall be given an opportunity to apply for all assignment(s), including those available as a result of an Employee vacating a position (as a result of resignation, retirement, leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days and termination or death) or newly created positions. All vacant permanent positions will be posted in the First Round of Postings.
  - (b) Permanent Employees will be awarded positions in accordance with seniority and qualifications.
  - (c) Term applicants will be placed after Permanent Employees, in order of hire date, so long as they held a Term position during the current school year. For clarity, Term applicants will only be placed if there is no discipline or documented performance concerns on their personnel file during the current term. Where two term applicants have the same hire date, the applicant with the earliest 400# will be awarded the position.
- 9.36 An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.35 and is awarded an assignment must accept that assignment.
- 9.37 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the First Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.

# Final Round of Postings: Educational Program Assistant Positions

- 9.38 (a) The Final Round of Postings will occur within fourteen (14) days of the first round being posted and will be open to all permanent, term and external applicants. Positions will be posted in accordance with Article 9.01. Assignments which were not filled in the First Round of Postings or become available as a result of an Employee applying for and obtaining an assignment in the First Round of Postings, and any new positions created since that time as a result of reinstatement or increase in funding, new student enrollments, leaves of absence in excess of ninety (90) calendar days, resignations, retirement, termination or death shall be posted in the Final Round of Postings.
  - (b) Permanent Employees will be awarded positions in accordance with seniority and qualifications.
  - (c) Term applicants will be placed after Permanent Employees, in order of hire date, so long as they held a Term position during the current school year. For clarity, Term applicants will only be placed if there is no discipline or documented performance concerns on their personnel file during the current term. Where two term applicants have the same hire date, the applicant with the earliest 400# will be awarded the position. Term applicants will only be placed in the Final Round of Postings and in the posting round that closes immediately after August 25.
- 9.39 An Employee who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.38 and is awarded an assignment must accept it.
- 9.40 Positions that are not filled by permanent or term applicants in the Final Round of Postings may be filled by external applicants. All term applicants will be considered prior to considering any external applicants. A position filled by an external applicant that was posted as permanent shall be filled on a permanent basis.
- 9.41 The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of all successful applicants from the Final Round of Postings, as well as the reasons why more senior applicants were not the successful candidates. This information will be provided to the Union prior to the Employer notifying the successful applicants.
- 9.42 An Employee who remains reduced at the end of the Final Round of Postings shall be issued a layoff notice pursuant to Article 12.
- 9.43 If a term Educational Program Assistant secures a term Educational Program Assistant position in the First Round of Postings, they are eligible to be awarded a permanent Educational Program Assistant position in the Final Round of Postings.

9.44 If a term applicant is awarded a permanent Educational Program Assistant position in the Final Round of Postings, they are only able to move into a different term Educational Program Assistant position in accordance with 9.46 below.

Educational Program Assistant Positions Posted After the Final Rounds of Postings

- 9.45 An Educational Program Assistant who applies for assignments pursuant to Article 9.38 and is awarded an assignment pursuant to 9.01(a) must accept it and may only apply for subsequent postings pursuant to Article 9.46.
- 9.46 (a) A term Educational Program Assistant may only apply for term positions that commence following the end date of their current term position.
  - (b) A permanent Educational Program Assistant may only apply for a term posting that closes on or before August 25 if the term position is for a full school year.
  - (c) A permanent Educational Program Assistant may only apply for a term position that closes on or after August 25 and during the remainder of that school year as follows:
    - (i) If the permanent Educational Program Assistant has recall rights, they will be considered for term positions as follows:
      - a. A posted term position at their current site up to the percentage from which they were reduced regardless of the length of the term position. A permanent employee in a term position can leave their term position to accept an increase in percentage at the same site before the end of their current term position.
      - b. A posted term position at a different site up to the percentage from which they were reduced and the term position must extend to the end of the school year.
      - c. Positions are awarded based on seniority among employees on recall who have applied for the position provided they meet the qualifications and competencies for the position.
    - (ii) If the permanent Educational Program Assistant does not have recall rights, they will be considered for term positions as follows:
      - a. A posted term position at a different site as long as it is an increase in percentage and extends to the end of the current school year.
      - b. A posted term position at their current site regardless of the length of the term position. A permanent employee in a term position can leave their term position to accept an increase in percentage at the same site before the end of their current term position.

- c. Positions are awarded based on seniority to those who have applied for the position provided they meet the qualifications and competencies for the position.
- (iii) Employees in (i) above will be awarded positions prior to employees in (ii) above)
- (d) External candidates will not be eligible for any term positions until all permanent employees have been given the opportunity to apply for and/or be trained for any term vacancy, providing the training can be completed within a reasonable number of days after commencement.
- 9.47 Should a position not be filled by an internal applicant it may be filled by a term or external applicant.
- 9.48 At the end of any term, a permanent Employee shall return to their original assignment provided the allocation exists.

#### Trial Period

- 9.49 (a) An Employee appointed or assigned by the Employer shall be given a trial period of two (2) months.
  - (b) If the Employee proves unsatisfactory during the trial period, the Employee shall be returned to their former position or equivalent position, salary rate and without loss of seniority. Any other Employee reassigned because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position or equivalent position, salary rate and without loss of seniority.

#### Assignment Within Classification

- 9.50
- (a) The Employer may, in consultation with the Union and an Employee, reassign the Employee from one assignment to another within the Employee's classification.
  - (b) An Employee may request a reassignment, in writing with reasons for the request, from one assignment to another within their classification for either personal or medical reasons.
  - (c) In making the reassignment under Article 9.50(a) and Article 9.50(b), the Employer will consider an Employee's preference as to school and geographical location.
  - (d) Reassignments of a disciplinary nature cannot be made pursuant to this Article.

# Assignment Outside Classification

9.51 If the Employer temporarily reassigns an Employee to an assignment outside their classification, for which the salary is lower, the Employee shall retain their original salary while in the temporary assignment.

#### Notification of Employee Status Changes to Union

- 9.52 The Union shall be notified in writing of all promotions, hirings, layoffs, recalls, deaths, retirements, resignations, and reassignments.
- 9.53 (a) The Employer agrees not to split any full-time position at a site without consultation with the Union.
  - (b) The Employer agrees to combine permanent part-time positions prior to posting wherever possible, after consultation with the Union.
  - (c) During the school year the Employer may add smaller percentage positions or smaller additional allocations at a single site into existing larger positions at the same site, without posting either the percentage positions or the resulting larger position, even if the resulting position is a full-time position for the remainder of the school year. Smaller percentage positions or smaller additional allocations may be any percentage or allocation, provided they are smaller than the position with which they are combined and are no greater than thirty percent (30%).
  - (d) Any allocations added pursuant to Article 9.53(c) will be assigned on a term basis for the remainder of the school year. Should the allocation remain for the ensuing school year, the resulting larger allocation shall be posted as a single position in the First Round of Postings in that year. In assigning allocations, Article 9.01(a) shall apply. The Employee occupying the position will be declared redundant pursuant to Article 9.03.
  - (e) The Employer shall advise the Union in writing when there is any additional allotment added to any school as per 9.53(c) throughout the school year and the reason for the additional allotment.

#### 9.54 Amalgamation, Regionalization and Merger Protection

In the event the Employer merges, amalgamates, or regionalizes, the Employer will use its best efforts within the scope of its lawful authority to negotiate provisions such that:

- (a) Employees shall be credited with all seniority rights with the new Employer.
- (b) All service credits relating to vacation with pay, sick leave credits and other benefits shall be recognized by the new Employer.
- (c) No employee shall suffer a loss of employment as a result of a merger.

# Article 10 Hours of Work

- 10.01 The hours of work for permanent full time Employees are as follows:
  - (a) Library Support Specialists: six and one-half (6 1/2) hours daily from Monday through Friday.
  - (b) Educational Program Assistants, Student Support Workers, Community Outreach Workers, Early Childhood Educators (Lead), Child and Youth Care Practitioners and Assistive Technology Support Workers: seven (7) hours daily from Monday through Friday.
  - (c) Early Childhood Educators (Support): six (6) hours daily from Monday through Friday.
- 10.02 (a) Employees who work between four (4) and seven (7) hours per day will be entitled to a mandatory continuous minimum thirty (30) minute unpaid lunch break plus two (2) continuous fifteen (15) minute paid rest periods at times designated by the Employer during their scheduled hours of work. Where operationally possible, paid rest periods will generally not be scheduled at the start of the Employee's scheduled hours of work. Where operationally possible, the Employee may arrange with the Employer to use one of the fifteen (15) minute rest periods in order to extend their lunch break to forty-five (45) minutes.
  - (b) Employees who work less than four (4) hours per day will be entitled to a continuous fifteen (15) minute paid rest period at a time designated by the Employer during their scheduled hours of work.
- 10.03 (a) Employees will be available for work on one hundred and ninety-five (195) school days, which include in-service days throughout the school year.

Notwithstanding this Article, Employees employed in the classification of Child and Youth Care Practitioner and Community Outreach Worker shall work on a twelve (12) month basis.

(b) Notwithstanding this Article, Employees employed in the classifications of Early Childhood Educator (Lead and Support) shall be available for work up to fourteen (14) hours in addition to the one hundred and ninety-five (195) school days, with such additional time to be worked preceding the first school day as determined by the supervisor and paid at the Employee's regular rate of pay. The work can be divided over more than one working day if requested by the employee and approved by the supervisor.

Community Outreach Workers who opt to remain 10-month employees as of July 7, 2022 will continue to work one hundred and ninety-five (195) school days as noted in this article.

# Closures Due to Order of Official Body

- 10.04 (a) Employees shall not suffer a loss of salary and benefits if their workplace is temporarily closed to their classification because of an order by an Official Body for reasons of health, security and/or safety; including when their school is closed to students and staff due to storms.
  - (b) In such circumstances, the Employer may:
    - (i) assign an employee to work within their classification at an alternate work location having regard to the proximity of the employee's original work location,
    - (ii) assign an employee to work within their classification from home, or assign other duties within the employee's skillset and qualifications which may include training and professional development.

provided such reassignment is operationally practical, reasonable and otherwise safe.

- (c) For the purposes of this Article, employees include permanent, probationary or term employees.
- 10.05 Training (scheduled by the Employer) shall be deemed work and shall be paid at the applicable rate.

# Article 11 Overtime

- 11.01 Overtime shall be on a voluntary basis.
- 11.02 All overtime must be approved in advance by the appropriate supervisor.
- 11.03 (a) All time worked in excess of thirty-five (35) hours per week for one hundred percent (100%) Educational Program Assistants, Student Support Workers, Community Outreach Workers, er Early Childhood Educators (Lead), Child and Youth Care Practitioners or Assistive Technology Support Workers, or thirty-two and one half (32.5) hours per week for one hundred percent (100%) Library Support Specialists or thirty (30) hours per week for Early Childhood Educators (Support), shall be considered as overtime and shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the Employee's regular rate of pay or taken as time in lieu of pay. For all overtime hours worked on Saturday, the Employee will be compensated at a rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the regular rate of pay. For all overtime hours worked on Sunday, the Employee will be compensated at a rate of two (2) times the regular rate of pay.
  - (b) All time worked in excess of regularly scheduled hours for an Employee whose position is less than one hundred percent (100%) shall be compensated at the Employer's Casual rate of pay or taken as time in lieu of pay until regular overtime rates in (a) above are triggered.
  - (c) Notwithstanding any other provision in the collective agreement, when there is twenty-four (24) hours' notice of a vacancy, permanent part-time employees at the site will be given priority for the work, based on seniority. Part-time term employees at the site will be given priority for such work after permanent parttime employees but prior to substitute employees.
- 11.04 Notwithstanding Articles 11.01 and 11.03, Early Childhood Educators (Lead and Support) are required to attend parent-teacher meetings, not to exceed twice per school year. All mandatory overtime to attend such meetings shall be paid at one and one half (1.5) times the Employee's regular rate of pay.
- 11.05 (a) Should an Employee be requested by the Employer to work during the Employee's regularly scheduled vacation, the Employee shall be compensated at two (2) times the Employee's regular rate of pay for the hours worked during the vacation period.
  - (b) Subject to Article 10.03, should an Employee, other than a twelve (12) month Employee, be requested by the Employer to work in excess of one hundred ninety-five (195) days, the Employee shall be compensated at two (2) times the Employee's regular rate of pay for each hour worked.

- 11.06 Should an Employee be requested by the Employer to work during a statutory holiday, the Employee shall be compensated at two (2) times the Employees regular rate of pay for the hours worked during the holiday.
- 11.07 By mutual agreement, an Employee may take equal time off in lieu of pay at the Employee's applicable rate within the school year in which the overtime was earned including but not limited to student early dismissal or assessment days. If there is no mutual agreement, overtime will be paid out in the last pay in July.
- 11.08 Notwithstanding Paragraph 11.03, in the event the Employer, pursuant to a motion of the elected Board or order of the Department of Education, elects to have the final day of a school year on a Saturday, Employees shall work on that day at the Employee's regular straight time rate of pay.

### Article 12 Layoff and Recall

12.01 When it is necessary to invoke staff reductions, it will be accomplished whenever possible by resignations and retirements.

If there is a reduction in the overall numbers in a classification, the Employer will first notify the Union.

- 12.02 A layoff occurs when:
  - (a) as a result of the annual staffing process, an Employee has been declared redundant and remains reduced (i.e. is unwilling or unable to be assigned to an equivalent position) upon completion of the Final Round of postings. Redundancies shall be determined in accordance with Article 9.03.
  - (b) during the school year, an Employee's assignment is eliminated or reduced by any amount. However, there is no layoff if an Employee moves location pursuant to 12.08 or 12.09 (a).
- 12.03 A laid off Employee who accepts or is assigned a position outside their original classification shall continue to be laid off unless the position they receive is greater than or equivalent to the percentage they were laid off.

#### Layoffs Resulting from Annual Staffing Process

- 12.04 (a) For classifications other than Educational Program Assistant, where there is a single employee at a site, and if the employee is reduced, the employee has the following options:
  - (i) displace an employee with the least seniority within the same classification with an equal percentage; or
  - (ii) accept layoff.
  - (b) Employees will have a maximum of one (1) working day to exercise their rights after receiving a lay-off notice. An employee displaced pursuant to this article is laid off.
  - (c) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, Employees who have lost a percentage of their position may remain in that position at a reduced percentage.
  - (d) An Employee laid off in accordance with 12.02(a) shall be paid until September 20 at the percentage held prior to the layoff.

#### Layoffs During the School Year

12.05 (a) For the purpose of determining the Employee(s) to be redundant or reduced at a site, the least senior Employee(s) at the site shall be declared redundant or reduced provided the senior Employee(s) can meet the qualifications and competencies for the positions which remain at the site, maintaining fifty (50%), eighty percent (80%), and one hundred percent (100%) positions for Educational Program Assistants.

If a permanent Employee has their position declared redundant during the school year, the Employer will place that permanent Employee in a position equivalent to that from which they were declared redundant, unless the permanent Employee chooses to accept the layoff.

- (b) If the redundant or reduced position is occupied on a term basis and is completely reduced, the term position will automatically terminate and the permanent Employee filling the term position shall return to their permanent position. However, should the term position not be completely reduced the permanent Employee can choose to accept the reduced term position or return to their permanent position. A term Employee must accept the reduced position.
- (c) Term Employees will be terminated prior to any permanent Employee at the site being laid off, provided the permanent Employee can be trained within a reasonable number of days after commencement.
- 12.06 (a) Unless legislation is more favourable to the Employees, the Employer shall notify Employees who are to be laid off thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. If the Employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.
  - (b) An Employee may accept the reduction of a permanent position during the school year, continue working in the reduced position, and be on layoff for the amount of the reduction; or the Employee may opt to take a full layoff from the position.
- 12.07 When existing sites are combined, the bargaining unit positions at the sites will be combined and the most junior Employee from the combined list in the affected classification will be laid off to bring about any necessary reduction in staff in accordance with 12.04(a), regardless of the percentage being reduced.
- 12.08 When the position of a Permanent Employee is eliminated because a student ceases to attend a school within the Halifax Regional Centre for Education system for the remainder of the school year, that position will be relocated in full to another location for the remainder of that school year, unless the Employee refuses the relocation. The procedures contained in Article 12.09 (a) will apply to this situation.

- 12.09 (a) Where a position is relocated as a result of a student transfer or where there is a grade level realignment, the following procedures will apply:
  - (i) An Employee at the originating site may volunteer to take the position at the new location provided they do not increase their percentage and, provided they have the necessary qualifications and competencies for the new position. If there is more than one volunteer, the most senior Employee shall be transferred.
  - (ii) If there are no volunteers, the most junior Employee at the originating site will be offered the position at the new location, provided they do not increase their percentage and provided they have the necessary qualifications and competencies for the new position, and the needs at the originating site can continue to be met by the remaining complement of Employees.
  - (iii) If the needs of the originating site cannot be met by the remaining Employees due to a bona-fide requirement being performed by the least senior Employee at the site, the next least senior Employee at the originating site will be offered the position at the new location.
  - (iv) Should the Employee identified for relocation refuse the position at the new location, that Employee shall be served with a layoff or redundancy notice in accordance with Article 12 or 9, respectively.
  - (b) Where an employee will be relocated for the upcoming school year due to a complete school closure:
    - At a site where employees are required to relocate, the employee will be given the opportunity to be assigned to another site to which the allocation(s) is being relocated, in order of seniority provided they are qualified and competent;
    - (ii) If an employee chooses not to relocate to another site to which the allocation(s) is being relocated, they will be issued a redundancy or layoff notice pursuant to Article 9.03 or 12, respectively;
    - Following relocation pursuant to this Article, the relocated employee will be included in the staff complement for that site for the purpose of allocation changes and any resulting redundancies will be completed pursuant to Article 9.03;
    - (iv) An employee will only be able to relocate to a position of equal or lesser percentage;
    - (v) For the purpose of this article, a complete school closure means a school ceases to be open and no students attend the facility;
    - (vi) When a school closure and grade realignment occur simultaneously, the process for a complete school closure pursuant to this article shall occur prior to the process for grade realignment pursuant to Article 12.09 (a).

12.10 All benefits for laid-off Employees will terminate upon the effective date of their layoff; however, Employees may elect to continue their benefits during the twenty-four (24) month recall period, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable plan upon payment to the Employer of both the Employer and the Employee's share of the benefits premium.

## Recall Rights

- 12.11 (a) All laid off Employees shall have the right of recall in order of bargaining unit seniority to positions provided they have the qualifications and competencies required for the position by submitting on-line application to positions listed on the Human Resources website.
  - (b) No new Employees or external candidates shall be hired to fill existing, permanent or new assignments until all Employees on layoff have first been given the opportunity to apply for these assignments, in accordance with Article 9.
  - (c) All assignments which become available during the school year shall be posted on the Human Resources web-site pursuant to Article 9.
  - (d) An Employee who is laid off may apply for positions pursuant to Article 9.01(c).
  - (e) Recall rights shall remain in effect for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the layoff unless the recall period has been extended pursuant to Article 12.13.
- 12.12 Laid-off Employees who wish to be offered work of a duration of less than ninety (90) calendar days, must advise the Employer of their availability for such work. The acceptance of such work shall not in any way alter or affect the Employee's employment status at the time of layoff, and the terms and conditions applicable to that status. During such periods of work, the Employee shall remain on recall.
- 12.13 The acceptance of a term position by a laid off Employee shall extend the twenty-four (24) month layoff period as referred to in Article 8.09 (a) (iii), Seniority, by the length of the assignment. A permanent Employee who accepts a term assignment shall retain their status as a permanent Employee.
- 12.14 Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated at Step Three of the grievance procedure, Article 13.
- 12.15 Employees are responsible for keeping the Employer informed of their current address, telephone number, e-mail address, and facsimile (fax) number if applicable.
- 12.16 If an Employee who has seniority rights is re-employed to a permanent assignment or term position during the recall period, all their rights and benefits as an Employee accumulated up to the date of their layoff will be reinstated.

# Article 13 Grievance Resolution

- 13.01 Where an Employee or the Union has a dispute with the Employer regarding the interpretation, application or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, the dispute shall constitute a grievance.
- 13.02 (a) Suspension, dismissal, and lay off and recall grievances shall be filed at Step Three of the grievance procedure.
  - (b) An aggrieved Employee who initiates a grievance pursuant to Article 13.02(a) shall submit the grievance to their shop steward within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date upon which the suspension, dismissal, layoff or recall occurred.

## 13.03 Employee Grievance

- (a) Informal Step
  - (i) An aggrieved Employee shall submit the grievance to their shop steward within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date upon which they knew of the occurrence which could become the matter of a grievance. If the Employee's shop steward is absent, they may submit their grievance to the Union President. At each step of the grievance procedure, the grievor has the right to be present.
  - (ii) If the steward or Union President considers the grievance to be justified, they shall within fourteen (14) calendar days bring the incident to the attention of the immediate supervisor verbally. This meeting shall only include the supervisor, the shop steward or their designate, and the Employee. The immediate supervisor shall respond verbally within seven (7) calendar days of being so advised.
  - (iii) To the extent possible, matters specific to an individual employee or employees at a single site should be dealt with at the site as an informal grievance.
- (b) <u>Step One</u>

If the informal grievance does not resolve the dispute, the shop steward or Union President or their designate shall submit the grievance in writing to the grievor's immediate supervisor within fourteen (14) calendar days of receiving the response from the immediate supervisor in accordance with Article 13.03 (a) (ii) stating the event which gave rise to the grievance, the Articles in the agreement which the Union believes have been violated and the corrective action desired. The supervisor shall reply in writing to the Union within fourteen (14) calendar days.

- (c) <u>Step Two</u>
  - (i) If the grievance is not resolved pursuant to Article 13.03 (b), the grievance shall be submitted in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of the response to Labour Relations Consultant or designate and there shall be a meeting with the Labour Relations Consultant or designate within fourteen (14) calendar days to endeavour to resolve the grievance;
  - (ii) The Labour Relations Consultant or designate shall reply in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of the meeting pursuant to Article 13.03 (c) (i);
- (d) Step Three
  - (i) If the grievance is not settled pursuant to Article 13.03 (c) (ii) within fourteen (14) calendar days, the Union shall inform the Director of Human Resource Services, in writing, that it wishes to have the grievance proceed to the next step of the grievance procedure;
  - (ii) Within fourteen (14) calendar days of the written request of the Union to proceed to the next step of the grievance procedure, the Director of Human Resource Services or their designate shall arrange a meeting to discuss the grievance. This meeting will be limited to one hour unless extended by mutual agreement. The Director of Human Resource Services or their designate shall respond in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of the meeting;
  - (iii) If the grievance has not been settled to the satisfaction of the Union, within fourteen (14) calendar days following the response by the Director of Human Resource Services or their designate pursuant to Article 13.03 (d) (ii), the Union shall, by notice in writing to the Director of Human Resource Services, refer the matter to arbitration.

## 13.04 Union or Group Employees Grievance

Where a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation occurs, or where a group of Employees or the Union has a grievance, Steps One and Two of this Article may be bypassed.

#### 13.05 Failure to Process Grievances

- (a) If the respondent to the grievance fails to comply with the applicable steps and time limits set out above, the grievor shall be at liberty to proceed according to the required time limits to the next succeeding step of the grievance procedure;
- (b) Any of the time limits in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement in writing between the Parties.

#### Shop Stewards

- 13.06 The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the name of each steward and the name of the chief steward, if applicable, before the Employer shall be required to recognize them.
- 13.07 The Employer agrees that shop stewards shall not be hindered or interfered with in the performance of their duties while investigating as provided in this Article. The Employer agrees that no Union representative shall be unreasonably denied permission to deal with grievance issues. The Union will endeavour to provide 48 hours notice prior to using any work time to deal with grievances.

#### Investigation and Processing of Grievances

- 13.08 In order to facilitate an orderly and confidential investigation of grievances, the Employer shall make available the temporary use of a suitable location, or the Union may request that the aggrieved Employee(s) meet at the Union office when the Union deems that the Employer's facilities are not suitable to maintain confidentiality. The Employer shall also supply the necessary facilities for the grievance meetings, if available.
- 13.09 Grievances shall be made by facsimile (fax), email, certified mail or personally delivered to the other party.
- 13.10 Any step of the grievance procedure may be omitted by the mutual agreement in writing of both Parties.
- 13.11 Requests to omit a step or extend the time limit shall be done in writing within the appropriate step or time set out in this Collective Agreement.
- 13.12 <u>Arbitration</u>
  - (a) Upon receipt of notice that a party wishes to have a grievance proceed to arbitration, the Parties shall endeavor to mutually agree to have a grievance submitted to a sole arbitrator;
  - (b) The Parties shall exchange names within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date of reply in Step Three of the Grievance Procedure; and
  - (c) If the Parties are unable to agree upon the choice of a sole arbitrator, either party may request the Minister of Labour for the Province of Nova Scotia to appoint an arbitrator or the Parties may submit the grievance to a Board of Arbitration as outlined in Article 13.13.

#### 13.13 Arbitration Board

- (a) The Union and the Employer shall each name a nominee to the Board of Arbitration within fourteen (14) calendar days after failure of the Parties to reach mutual agreement on a sole arbitrator. Each party shall notify the other of the name of its nominee;
- (b) The Union nominee and Employer nominee shall select a chairperson of the Board of Arbitration and shall notify the Union and the Employer, in writing, of their selection; and
- (c) If the Union nominee and the Employer nominee are unable to agree upon a suitable chairperson, either party may request the Minister of Labour for the Province of Nova Scotia to appoint a chairperson.
- 13.14 Upon advance notice to the Employer, all reasonable arrangements shall be made to permit the conferring Parties or arbitrator(s) to have access to the Employer's premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance.
- 13.15 Each party shall pay one-half of the fees and expenses of the chair of the arbitration board or sole arbitrator as the case may be. Each party shall pay its own costs in respect of its nominee to the Board of Arbitration.
- 13.16 The majority decision of a Board of Arbitration or the decision of a sole arbitrator shall be final and binding upon all Parties, including the Employer, the Union, and the grievor.
- 13.17 The Arbitrator or the Arbitration Board shall not have the power to alter, amend, modify, change, or make any decisions inconsistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement but shall have the power to modify or set aside any unjust penalty of discharge, suspension, or discipline imposed by the Employer on an Employee.
- 13.18 Either party may seek clarification of the Arbitrator or Arbitration Board's decision.
- 13.19 The Employer shall not interfere with a Union officer's access to any Employees who may be witnesses at any stage of the grievance or arbitration process.

#### **Discipline, Suspension and Discharge** Article 14

- 14.01 The Employer accepts the principles of progressive discipline. Employees may only be disciplined, suspended or discharged for just cause. Discipline shall include the followina:
  - a verbal warning to be documented (a)
  - (b) a written warning
  - (c) an unpaid suspension
  - (d) discharge
- 14.02
  - (a) It is recognized that the Employer has the right to discipline, suspend, or discharge. An Employee may request the right to have a shop steward or other Union representative present during any meeting in the course of an investigation which might lead to discipline or during the imposition of discipline, suspension, or discharge. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to accommodate this request. The Employer shall inform the Employee of this right and give them reasonable time to arrange for the shop steward or Union representative to be present following which the meeting will occur. The Employer will give the Employee forty-eight (48) hours' notice of any disciplinary meeting when the purpose of the meeting involves a suspension or termination.
    - Prior to the imposition of discipline, suspension or discharge, the Employee (b) shall be notified of the reasons and grounds for action.
    - The Employer may allow an Employee to continue their employment (C) throughout the grievance and arbitration period.
    - (d) When necessary, the Employer may require an Employee to be suspended with pay while investigating disciplinary matters.
    - (e) An arbitrator may order a record of discipline for a specific incident removed from an Employee's file as a result of the Employer's failure to comply with the procedures of 14.02 for that specific incident.
- 14.03 The Employer will notify the Union prior to any meeting occurring at which an Employee is disciplined, suspended or discharged.
- 14.04 In the event that an Employee is disciplined, the Employee shall be notified in writing of the reasons for the imposition of discipline and the resulting decision.
- 14.05 Where it is determined, through the grievance process, that an Employee has been unjustly disciplined, suspended or discharged, the Centre shall forthwith compensate

the Employee for any amounts as agreed between the Parties or as determined by arbitration, including, where appropriate, reinstatement.

- 14.06 If, following a full hearing on the merits of the grievance, the grievor is fully exonerated from any alleged wrongdoing, all records held by the Employer dealing with such discipline, suspension or discharge shall be removed from the personnel file and destroyed immediately.
- 14.07 The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in a hearing relating to disciplinary action, any documents from the Employee's personnel file of which the Employee is not aware prior to the hearing.

#### Article 15 Sick Leave

- 15.01 Sick leave means the period of time an Employee is permitted to be absent from work with full pay by virtue of their illness or injury.
- 15.02 Employees will be granted sick leave with pay in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
- 15.03 Employees will accrue sick leave credits in accordance with the following formula:
  - (a) Permanent full-time Employees will accrue sick leave at the rate of twenty (20) days per year to a maximum of one hundred ninety five days (195);
  - (b) Permanent part-time Employees will accrue sick leave on a pro-rata basis relating to the number of hours worked;
  - (c) Term Employees will accrue sick leave on a pro rata basis relating to the length of their term position and the number of hours worked.
  - (d) Where an employee uses more of their allotted sick leave in a year or term than they accrue based on the time worked in the year or term, the Employee shall repay the excess amount of sick leave used.

Where the Employee returns to the employ of the Employer before the end of the school year or term, as applicable, the Employee shall repay the excess amount of sick leave used in accordance with Article 30.03.

- 15.04 Notwithstanding 15.03 and beginning no earlier than Sept. 1, 2025, Employees will accrue sick leave credits in accordance with the following formula:
  - Permanent full-time Employees will accrue sick leave monthly at the rate of twenty (20) days per year to a maximum of one hundred ninety five days (195);
  - (b) Permanent part-time Employees will accrue sick leave monthly on a pro-rata basis relating to the number of hours worked
  - (c) Term Employees will accrue sick leave monthly on a pro rata basis relating to the length of their term position and the number of hours worked
  - (d) Where an employee uses more of their allotted sick leave in a year or term than they accrue based on the time worked in the year or term, the Employee shall repay the excess amount of sick leave used.

Where the Employee returns to the employ of the Employer before the end of the school year or term, as applicable, the Employee shall repay the excess amount of sick leave used in accordance with Article 30.03.

- 15.05 Sick leave credits shall be reduced by the amount of sick leave taken.
- 15.06 Employees shall be notified of sick leave credits on their bi-weekly pay stub.
- 15.07 (a) It is agreed that sick leave credits in existence for each Employee in the bargaining unit as of the date of the signing of this Collective Agreement shall continue.
  - (b) Those Employees who, at the signing of this Collective Agreement, have in excess of one hundred ninety-five (195) days sick leave credits shall use their sick days in the following order:
    - (i) the current twenty (20) days;
    - (ii) the accumulated days up to one hundred ninety-five (195);
    - (iii) the legacy accumulation.
  - (c) Notwithstanding 15.07 (b) and beginning no earlier than Sept. 1, 2025, those Employees who, at the signing of this Collective Agreement, have in excess of one hundred ninety-five (195) days sick leave credits shall use their sick days in the following order:
    - (i) the days accrued in the current school year;
    - (ii) the accumulated days up to one hundred ninety-five (195);
    - (iii) the legacy accumulation.
- 15.08 Any unused sick leave benefits shall be cancelled upon termination of the Employee's employment.
- 15.09 In all cases of injury or illness, an Employee shall notify their Supervisor as soon as reasonably possible.
- 15.10 Before reporting for duty after an absence of three (3) or more days due to illness or injury, an Employee must notify their Supervisor when they will return to work.
- 15.11 A leave of absence due to illness shall be considered continuous service with the Employer.
- 15.12 (a) An Employee may be required to produce a certificate, pursuant to 15.12(c), from a licensed medical practitioner of the Employee's choice if they are unable to carry out their duties due to illness for any period of sick leave in excess of five (5) consecutive working days, or if the Employer reasonably

concludes that there is a pattern of illness. When the Employer requests a certificate the Employer shall pay the full cost associated with such certificate.

- (b) The Employer shall not request a certificate from a medical practitioner unless the Employee is off on a period of sick leave at the time of the request.
- (c) The Employee shall have ten (10) working days to submit the requested certificate to the Employer. All requests for a certificate must be in writing and will include a copy of the medical certificate to be completed, as attached in Schedule "B".
- 15.13 Fraudulent use of sick leave may be grounds for discipline, up to and including dismissal by the Employer.
- 15.14 No Employee shall be reduced as a result of having exhausted their sick leave credits.
- 15.15 Time lost by an Employee, as a result of being quarantined by a certified medical practitioner, because of a job-related incident or circumstance shall be treated as a leave of absence with pay, for the duration of the quarantine.
- 15.16 (a) When an Employee's paid sick leave has expired, they may choose to continue enrolment in group benefit plans, subject to the rules of the benefit plans. After thirty (30) working days from the expiry of the Employee's paid sick leave, payment for all benefits shall be the sole responsibility of the Employee unless the Employee has applied for Workers' Compensation Benefits (WCB) or Long-Term Disability (LTD) benefits or the Employee has appealed denial of WCB or LTD benefits.
  - (b) Notwithstanding (a) above, the Employee will be required to pay for all group benefits costs after a period of one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days from the expiry of the Employee's paid sick leave, unless the Employee is in receipt of WCB or LTD benefits.
  - (c) If an Employee later is awarded WCB or LTD benefits, the Employer will make contributions to the benefits plans and will reimburse the Employee for the benefits contributions for the interim period.

#### Article 16 Leaves of Absence

#### 16.01 Leave for Union Office/Position

- (a) On reasonable notice, special leave without pay shall be granted, subject to the operational needs and requirements of the Employer, to Employees who are elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union for as long as they remain in the position, without loss of seniority or classification. It is also agreed that any pension or medical benefits may be continued for the duration of such special leave, provided the carrier of the plan approves such an arrangement, but the Employee must bear the total costs of any such benefits. Such Employee on leave shall report to work within four (4) weeks of the termination of their Union position/appointment and shall have the time spent on such special leave credited to their seniority. An Employee must notify the Employer of their intention to return to work four (4) weeks in advance of the expiration of the leave.
- (b) Upon expiration of their term of office, the Employee shall be reinstated in the position they held immediately prior to the commencement of leave, or in a position mutually agreed upon by the Employee and the Employer, at a salary level commensurate with the position previously held.
- (c) An Employee elected or appointed as President of the Union shall be given a leave of absence without pay for the term they are to serve up to a maximum of three (3) years.
- (d) All benefits of the Employee shall continue in effect while the Employee is serving as President, and, for such purposes, the Employee shall be deemed to be in the employ of the Employer.
- (e) Notwithstanding Article 16.01 (c) & 16.01 (d), the gross salary of the President shall be the highest existing gross annual salary of the bargaining unit and paid to the President by the Employer, and the amount of this gross salary shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Union within 30 days. No overtime will be paid for this salaried position.
- (f) Upon expiration of their term of office, the Employee shall be reinstated in the position they held immediately prior to the commencement of leave at a salary level commensurate with the position previously held; the Union shall provide at least (30) days' advance notice; the Union will be responsible to reimburse HRCE for the salary of the employee during the full period of advance notice.
- (g) Notwithstanding Article 33.01 (b) or any provision of the Collective Agreement to the contrary, the period of leave of absence shall be deemed to be continuous service and employment with the Employer for all purposes.
- (h) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Collective Agreement, up to five (5) vacation days earned but not used by a 12-month employee prior to taking office shall be carried over to be taken in the fiscal year in which the Employee returns from leave of absence.
- (i) The Union shall reimburse to the Employer the Employer's share of

contribution for E.I. premiums, Canada Pension Plan, group insurance premiums, and any other benefits made on behalf of the Employee during the period of leave.

#### 16.02 Political Participation Leave

- (a) In this Article "candidate" means a person who has been officially nominated as a candidate or is declared to be a candidate by that person, or by others, with that person's consent, in a federal, provincial or municipal election.
- (b) Upon written request, the Employer shall allow a leave of absence without pay and benefits for the duration of the election process so the Employee may be a candidate.
- (c) Upon written request, the Employer shall allow a leave of absence without pay and benefits to an Employee who has been elected in a federal, provincial or municipal election. After two (2) years of leave, the Employee's permanent position will be posted on a permanent basis and filled in accordance with Article 9.

The Employee shall retain but not accrue seniority during the leave. Upon return, the Employee shall be placed in an available position comparable to the one occupied prior to the leave of absence and on the same step on the classification wage scale held prior to commencing the leave. The Employee shall retain their sick leave credits held prior to commencing the leave.

#### 16.03 Leave for Court Attendance

The Employer shall grant a leave of absence with pay to any Employee subpoenaed or summoned to appear:

- (a) on behalf of the Employer; or
- (b) as a witness in a criminal prosecution, civil proceeding or coroner's inquest; or
- (c) in any proceeding in which the Employer is a party; or
- (d) in any proceeding in which the Employee is called upon to testify in their role as an Employee of the Employer; or
- (e) In any proceeding in which the Employee is required to appear before any government body, including but not limited to Legislative Council, Legislative Assembly, or any committee thereof that is authorized by law to compel the attendance of a witness before it.

## 16.04 Personal Leave

- (a) For the purpose of this Article, immediate family shall be defined as spouse (including common law or same sex partner where the couple has lived together for at least one year), parents (including in-laws), siblings (including in-laws), children (including in-laws), grandparents, grandchildren, and step and foster parent, child or sibling of the Employee, or anyone for whom the Employee is the legal guardian.
- (b) The Employer may, subject to Article 16.05, provide a personal leave for the following:
  - medical, dental or other appointments of the employee or a member of the employee's immediate family that cannot be scheduled outside of working hours;
  - (ii) to enable an employee to care for a member of the employee's immediate family who may be seriously ill;
  - (iii) to enable an employee to attend a graduation of a member of the employee's immediate family;
  - (iv) in the event of a household emergency including, but not limited to, fire, flood or other similar circumstance;
  - (v) to attend at the funeral or celebration of life of a deceased who is not a member of the immediate family of the employee;
  - (vi) two (2) days of travel in conjunction with bereavement leave under Article 17.01 when a death occurs in the employee's immediate family;
  - (vii) such other reason as the Centre, in its discretion, may determine to be appropriate (includes maximum three (3) days for practicing adherents of established Religious Faiths to participate in major Holy Days of their religion).
- (c) Where an Employee is provided Personal Leave pursuant to this Article, and cancels use of the Personal Leave in advance of the scheduled day(s), those day(s) shall not be deducted from the entitlement noted in (b) above.
- 16.05 The Employee shall be entitled to not more than four (4) days paid personal leave each year. When working conditions permit, Employees may receive up to an additional thirty (30) days leave without pay per year.

#### 16.06 Unpaid Personal Leave

The Centre, in its sole discretion, may provide an extended leave to an Employee for up to and including twelve (12) months. Where an Employee is requesting a leave of greater than one (1) month, the Employee shall give the Employer thirty (30) calendar days' notice of the anticipated start date of the leave, where possible.

Leave requests for the full school year submitted on or before May 1<sup>st</sup> of the year preceding the leave will be given preference for consideration.

- 16.07 Upon return from an extended unpaid leave in accordance with this Article, the Employee shall return to a position with the Employer. Placement shall be based on the following options:
  - (a) placement to the original position after a leave of absence of up to one year;
  - (b) to a comparable position after a leave of absence for longer than one year;
  - (c) placement to a mutually agreed upon position.
- 16.08 (a) An Employee granted a leave of absence of more than six (6) months shall notify the Employer in writing of the Employee's intended date of return sixty (60) days in advance of the expiration of the leave.
  - (b) An Employee on a personal unpaid leave of absence for a complete school year shall notify the Employer prior to May 1 of their return-to-work status for the following school year.
  - (c) If an employee fails to notify the Employer pursuant to this article, the Employee's position may be posted. The Employee would then be able to apply for other positions and would retain their seniority according to Article 8.
- 16.09 Entitlement to pension, group insurance and medical care benefits pursuant to Article 31 Pension Plan and Article 32 Benefit Plan shall only continue after the first thirty (30) days of the absence without pay if the Employee pays to the Employer the full cost of such benefits, including the Employer's share for the period of absence following the first thirty (30) days of absence. The continuation of pension, medical care and group insurance benefits during any such absence shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable plan. Arrangements for payments shall be mutually agreeable to both Parties.

## 16.10 Pregnancy Leave

The Employer shall not terminate the employment of an employee because of their pregnancy.

Pregnancy leave shall be granted in the following manner:

- (a) an unpaid leave of seventeen (17) weeks will be granted;
- (b) an Employee shall not later than the fifth (5th) month of pregnancy forward to the Employer a written request for pregnancy leave;

- the Employer may request a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that the Employee is pregnant and specifying the expected date of the delivery;
- (d) the pregnancy leave shall begin on such date as the Employee determines, but no sooner than sixteen (16) weeks preceding the expected date of delivery nor later than the date of delivery;
- (e) pregnancy leave shall end on such date as the Employee determines, but not later than seventeen (17) weeks following the date of delivery, nor sooner than one (1) week after the date of delivery;
- (f) the Employee will provide the Employer as much notice as reasonably practicable of the commencement of their leave or the employee's return to work.
- (g) An employee suffering from an illness arising out of or associated with the employee's pregnancy, prior to the commencement of the pregnancy leave granted in accordance with Article 16, may be granted sick leave in accordance with the provisions of Article 15.

## 16.11 Parental or Adoption Leave

- (a) An Employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through the birth or adoption of a child or children is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to sixty-one (61) weeks upon giving the Employer four (4) weeks' notice of the date that the Employee will begin the leave and the date the Employee will return to work. The Employee may alter the date of return to work upon two (2) weeks' notice to the Employer.
- (b) Where notice as required in Article 16.11(a) is not possible due to circumstances beyond the control of the Employee, the Employee will provide the Employer as much notice as reasonably practicable of the commencement of leave or return to work.
- (c) The parental leave of an Employee, who has taken a pregnancy leave and whose newborn child or children arrive at the Employee's home during pregnancy leave:
  - (i) shall begin immediately upon completion of the pregnancy leave, without the Employee returning to work;
  - (ii) shall end not later than sixty-one (61) weeks after the parental leave began as determined by the Employee, subject to the Employee giving four (4) weeks' notice of the date upon which the leave will end.
- (d) The parental or adoption leave for an Employee who has not taken a pregnancy leave, who becomes a parent of one or more children through birth or adoption of a child or children:

- (i) shall begin on such date coinciding with or after the birth or adoption of the child as the employee determines; and
- (ii) shall end not later than <u>sixty-one (61)</u> weeks after the parental leave began and in any case, no later <u>than sixty-one (61)</u> weeks after the child or children first arrive in the employee's home.

## 16.12 Pregnancy, Parental and Adoptive Leave Benefits

- (a) While an Employee is on pregnancy, parental or adoptive leave, an Employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate seniority credits for the duration of the leave and their seniority shall be deemed to be continuous.
- (b) The Employer shall continue to pay its share of premium costs for maintaining such medical, extended health, group life and/or other Employee benefit plans in place at the time of leave during the period of pregnancy or parental adoptive leave pursuant to this Article.
- (c) The replacement employee for a parental/ adoption leave will be granted the rights and privileges of a term employee pursuant to Article 5.04 (a), except that the specific termination date may vary because of the resumption of work of the incumbent employee in accordance with Articles 16.10 (f) and Article 16.11 (a).

## 16.13 Supplementary Employment Benefits

(a) If an Employee on pregnancy leave or adoptive parental leave pursuant to this Article is in receipt of benefits under the terms of the Employment Insurance Act, the Employer shall pay to the Employee a Supplemental Employment Benefit for a maximum period of seventeen (17) weeks.

The Centre agrees to top Employment Insurance payments according to the following schedule:

- (i) The waiting period shall be paid at the rate of seventy-five percent (75%) from the Centre;
- (ii) The remaining weeks shall be shared by Employment Insurance and the Centre up to ninety-three percent (93%) to a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks combined.
- (b) An employee who is granted parental leave only shall be entitled to the following benefits:
  - (i) seventy-five percent (75%) of the employee's weekly salary during the EI waiting period;
  - (ii) Up to a maximum of ten (10) additional weeks;
    - a. where the employee is in receipt of Standard EI Parental Benefits, the payments will be equivalent to the difference between the

weekly Standard El Parental Benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three percent (93%) of the employee's weekly rate of pay:

- b. where the employee is in receipt of Extended El Parental Benefits, the payments will be equivalent to the difference between the weekly Standard El Parental Benefits the employee would have been eligible to receive and ninety-three percent (93%) of the employee's weekly rate of pay;
- (iii) weeks in (i) and (ii) above are to be consecutive and commence at the start of the leave.

## 16.14 <u>Resumption of Work</u>

- (a) If an Employee is entitled to parental or pregnancy leave and the child to whom the leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding or likely to exceed one week, the Employee is entitled to return to and resume work and defer the unused portion of leave until the child is discharged from the hospital, upon giving the Employer reasonable notice.
- (b) When an Employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period referred to in Article 16.10 and Article 16.11 the Employees shall resume work in the same positions they held prior to the commencement of the pregnancy and/or parental leave, with no loss of benefits accrued to commencement of the leave. If the former position no longer exists, the Employee shall be placed in a comparable position with not less than the same wages and benefits of the former position. An Employee returning from a leave permitted by this Article shall not displace an Employee with greater seniority.

#### 16.15 Request for Leaves in Writing

All applications for leaves other than Article 16.05, pursuant to this Article must be submitted to the Human Resources Services Unit Manager in writing.

## 16.16 <u>Centre Assessment and Evaluation Days</u>

Employees shall have two days off with pay on two of the Centre's Assessment and Evaluation Days.

Prior to October 15 each year, all Employees will advise their supervisor of their selection, except for the following:

- (a) Assistive Technology Support Workers, Child and Youth Care Practitioners, 12-month Schools Plus Community Outreach Workers, Early Childhood Educator Leads, and Early Childhood Educator Supports shall not take the Assessment and Evaluation days off in the month of June.
- (b) Educational Program Assistants at the secondary level shall not take both Assessment and Evaluation days off in the month of June where they are required to support full inclusion of students at graduation activities.

## 16.17 Family Illness Days

An Employee shall be entitled to use up to a maximum of two (2) days per school year from their sick leave credits to attend to a member of the Employee's immediate family who is ill when the Employee's personal attention is required. For the purpose of this article, immediate family is defined as mother, father, son, daughter, or other person who permanently resides with the Employee. These days cannot be carried forward.

## 16.18 <u>Compassionate Care Leave</u>

- (a) An employee who has been employed by the Employer for a period of at least three (3) months is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to twentyeight (28) weeks to provide care or support to a family member of the employee if a legally qualified medical practitioner issues a certificate stating that the family member has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death within twenty-six (26) weeks from:
  - (i) the date the certificate is issued; or
  - (ii) where the leave was begun before the certificate was issued, the day the leave was begun.

Where requested by the employer, the employee must provide the employer with a copy of the certificate referred to in subsection (1).

- (b) Weeks of leave can only be taken in periods of not less than two weeks duration.
- (c) For the purposes of this Article 16.18 family member, in relation to an employee, means:

- the employee's spouse (including common-law partner)
- a parent, step-parent or foster parent of the employee or the employee's spouse
- a child (including in-laws) or step-child of the employee or the employee's spouse
- a current or former foster child of the employee
- a sibling or step-sibling (including in-laws) of the employee
- a grandparent or step-grandparent of the employee or of the employee's spouse
- a grandchild or step-grandchild of the employee or of the employee's spouse
- a sibling of a parent of the employee or of the employee's spouse
- the child of a sibling of the employee or of the employee's spouse
- the spouse of the employee's current or former foster child, current or former guardian, grandchild, parent's sibling, sibling's child
- the current or former guardian of the employee
- the current or former ward of the employee or the employee's spouse

Employees may apply for compassionate care leave for a person who considers the employee to be like a family member or who is considered by the employee to be like a family member. Employees wishing to take a Leave for a person in this category must provide the HRCE, if requested, with a completed copy of the form.

- (d) An employee shall advise the employer as soon as possible of any intention to take a leave of absence under this Section.
- (e) For the period of time specified in subsection (1), the employer shall grant to the employee the option of maintaining a benefit plan in which the employee participated before the beginning of that period and shall notify the employee in writing of the option and the date beyond which the option may no longer be exercised at least ten days before the last day on which the option could be exercised to avoid an interruption in benefits.
- (f) Where the employee opts in writing to maintain the benefit plan referred to in subsection 16.09, the employee shall enter into an arrangement with the employer to pay the cost required to maintain the benefit plan, including the employer's share thereof, and the employer shall process the documentation and payments as arranged.
- (g) An employee shall give five (5) working days' notice to the employer prior to returning to work if returning earlier than the requested leave.

#### Article 17 Bereavement Leave

- 17.01 When a death occurs in the Employee's immediate family, the Employee shall be entitled to bereavement leave of five (5) working days with pay, with two (2) additional personal days with pay for travel if required. The employee may defer one (1) day of bereavement leave for the interment or memorial service.
- 17.02 For the purpose of this Article, immediate family shall be defined as spouse (including common law or same sex partner where the couple has lived together for at least one year), parent (including in-law), sibling (including in-law), child (including in-law), grandparent, grandchild, and step and foster parent, child or sibling of the Employee or anyone for whom the Employee is the legal guardian.
- 17.03 The Employer may grant additional bereavement leave without pay in cases where extraordinary circumstances prevail.

## Article 18 Leave for Jury Duty

18.01 An Employee who serves as a juror or is called for jury duty shall be paid their regular pay, in addition to any payment received for jury duty, subject to the Employee providing proof satisfactory to the Employer of attendance for and participation in jury duty.

## Article 19 Holidays

- 19.01 All Employees who would qualify pursuant to the *Labour Standards Code* shall be entitled to days off with pay on the following holidays:
  - (a) New Year's Day
  - (b) Good Friday
  - (c) Easter Monday
  - (d) Victoria Day
  - (e) Labour Day
  - (f) Thanksgiving
  - (g) Remembrance Day
  - (h) Christmas Day
  - (i) Boxing Day
  - (j) Nova Scotia Heritage Day (third Monday in February)
  - (k) Truth and Reconciliation Day
  - (I) Half Day beginning at 12 noon on Christmas Eve Day (twelve (12) month Employees only)
  - (m) Half Day beginning at 12 noon on New Year's Eve Day (twelve (12) month Employees only)
- 19.02 Employees required to work twelve (12) months per year shall be entitled to days off with pay on Canada Day and Natal Day, in addition to the days listed in paragraph 19.01.
- 19.03 Holidays declared by the Minister of Education for the Province of Nova Scotia, or declared by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Governments during the school year will also be considered as paid holidays for the purpose of this Collective Agreement.
- 19.04 The above holidays will be observed by Employees on the calendar day on which they fall, unless, by government proclamation, they are observed on another day. Holidays, which fall on a Saturday or Sunday will be observed on the next regular work day.

#### Article 20 Vacation

- 20.01 This Article applies only to those Employees required to work twelve (12) months per year.
- 20.02 "Service" for the purpose of this Article, shall accumulate from the Employee's most recent date of hire with the Employer.
- 20.03 The vacation year shall be September 1<sup>st</sup> to August 31<sup>st</sup>. The Employee shall be notified in writing of their vacation entitlement each year in January. The Employee's anniversary date will be the date used to calculate the Employee's vacation entitlement.
- 20.04 Employees shall accumulate vacation entitlement as follows:
  - (a) Employees employed for more than one year but less than seven years, fifteen (15) days' vacation per year;
  - (b) Employees employed for seven years but less than fifteen years, twenty (20) vacation days per year;
  - (c) Employees employed for more than fifteen years, twenty-five (25) vacation days per year;
  - (d) Child and Youth Care Practitioners that were included in the CUPE Local 5047 Bargaining Unit as of the December 8, 2021, Labour Relations Board Order #1979 shall have their vacation entitlements legacied as follows:

<1 year	1.25 days/month	prorated in year of hire
≥ 1 and < 5 years	1.25 days/month	3 weeks (15 days)
≥ 5 years	1.67 days/month	4 weeks (20 days)
≥ 12 years	2.08 days/month	5 weeks (25 days)
≥ 20 years	2.50 days/month	6 weeks (30 days) Max

- 20.05 Notwithstanding 20.04 and effective April 1, 2025, Employees shall accumulate vacation entitlement as follows:
  - (e) Employees employed for more than one year but less than seven years, fifteen (15) days' vacation per year;
  - (f) Employees employed for seven years but less than fifteen years, twenty (20) vacation days per year;
  - (g) Employees employed for more than fifteen years but less than twenty-eight years, twenty-five (25) vacation days per year;
  - (h) Employees employed for more than twenty-eight years, thirty (30) vacation days per year.

(i) Child and Youth Care Practitioners that were included in the CUPE Local 5047 Bargaining Unit as of the December 8, 2021, Labour Relations Board Order #1979 shall have their vacation entitlements legacied as follows:

<1 year	1.25 days/month	prorated in year of hire
≥ 1 and < 5 years	1.25 days/month	3 weeks (15 days)
≥ 5 years	1.67 days/month	4 weeks (20 days)
≥ 12 years	2.08 days/month	5 weeks (25 days)
≥ 20 years	2.50 days/month	6 weeks (30 days) Max

- 20.06 Vacations shall be taken in the year accumulated unless the Employee is prevented by injury, serious illness or other circumstances beyond the Employee's control from taking vacation in that year. Payment in lieu of unused vacation may be provided by mutual agreement. If vacation cannot be taken in the subsequent year, the outstanding vacation days will be paid at the end of that vacation year.
- 20.07 Vacation accrued and carried over prior to the signing of this Agreement will be recognized as vacation days accumulated and awarded accordingly.
- 20.08 Vacations may be taken throughout the year subject to the operational requirements of the Employer. The Employer reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to limit the number of Employees on vacation at any time. Subject to the foregoing, vacation shall be granted at each work location in accordance with seniority.

#### Article 21 Proper Accommodation

- 21.01 (a) Proper accommodation shall be provided for Employees to have their meals and store and change their clothes.
  - (b) The Employer shall provide access to materials and/or office equipment necessary for an Employee to perform their duties.
  - (c) The Employer will supply Employees with an email account.
- 21.02 (a) All Employees shall, if they so request, receive appropriate immunization paid for by the Employer.
  - (b) Where the health of the student necessitates the immunization of those Employees working with that student, the Employer shall request the Employee to have the appropriate immunization.
- 21.03 All bargaining unit members shall have a right to pertinent information as to the nature of any physical or mental conditions or significant behavioral issue of each student in their care.
- 21.04 Employees shall contribute to the student's Individual Program Planning.
- 21.05 Where an Employee, as a result of acting lawfully in performance of their duties as an Employee is prosecuted or sued by a party other than Her Majesty or a party to this Collective Agreement, the Employer undertakes to defend them, provided that the Employee shall cooperate fully with the defense provided, and further provided that if the Employee retains their own legal counsel, the Employer shall be relieved of all obligations under this Article. Nothing in this Article will prevent the Employee from having the full rights and benefits of this Collective Agreement including the right to grieve.

#### Article 22 Personnel File

- 22.01 (a) There shall be one official personnel file for each Employee.
  - (b) An Employee may make an appointment with Human Resource Services to review their personnel file. Such appointment shall be during normal Centre office hours. The Employee shall be entitled to make a copy of any information contained in their personnel file.
  - (c) Employees shall be permitted to have inserted in their personnel file any documentation concerning commendation and meritorious conduct.
  - (d) All sick leave certificates shall be placed in an employee's separate confidential medical file.
- 22.02 Upon the Employees written request on termination of employment for any reason, the Employer shall provide a letter of confirmation of employment.
- 22.03 Each Employee shall be provided with a copy of their evaluation at the time of the evaluation. The Employee shall have an opportunity to respond in writing if they so wish. A copy of the Employee's response shall be attached to the evaluation. The Employer's copy of an Employee's evaluation, and any Employee response, shall be kept in the Employee's personnel file. An Employee shall only be evaluated on matters related to their job performance.
- 22.04 The record of an Employee shall not be used against them at any time after thirty-six (36) months following a suspension or disciplinary action, including letters of reprimand or any adverse reports.

#### Article 23 Job Classification and Reclassification

- 23.01 Where the Employer established a new classification, the Union will be provided with a copy of the job description and the proposed rate of pay. If the Union does not agree with the proposed rate of pay it shall be referred to the Classification Review Committee.
- 23.02 Classifications shall not be eliminated without the union receiving at least ninety (90) days notice.
- 23.03 When the duties in any classification are significantly changed such that either party believes the position has become incorrectly classified and/or that the duties are substantially similar to a higher paid classification within the local bargaining unit or another CUPE bargaining unit within the eight education entities, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. Such process shall be commenced by way of a written letter of dispute submitted to the Director of Human Resources or Local Union President outlining the significant change to the duties. The Employer and Union agree that any disputes concerning the standardized provincial classifications shall be referred to the Classification Review Committee.
- 23.04 The Employer and Union agree that any classification, that exists in more than one CUPE bargaining unit across the education entities, that has not already been standardized provincially (job description, title and wage rate), will be submitted for review by the classification committee and follow through the process outlined in this article.

#### Classification Review Committee:

- 23.05 While recognizing the right of each individual Employer to determine and establish classification(s) within its own Region/CSAP, the Employer also recognizes the value of maintaining the standardized provincial classifications and wage rates.
  - a. The Classification Review Committee will consist of a maximum of one CUPE employee and a maximum of one management employee from each Region/CSAP as well as a spokesperson for CUPE and an Education and Early Childhood Development spokesperson for the Employers.
  - b. When a classification is referred to the committee the Employer shall provide the job description, job postings and wage rate (as implemented within the Region/CSAP to the members of the Classification Committee a minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the meeting.
  - c. When there are one or more classifications to be considered, the Classification Review will meet with the purpose of reviewing and, where possible, determining the appropriate wage rate for the classification(s) as presented.
  - d. Such review and determination, where possible, is limited to considering:
    - (i) required duties;
    - (ii) standardized title; and
    - (iii) the appropriate wage rate

- e. Nothing herein prevents the Employer from implementing a new or significantly changed classification anytime in advance of the meeting in accordance with the provisions of their applicable collective agreement.
- f. Should the Classification review Committee reach consensus on a different wage rate:
  - For existing classifications, if the wage rate is more than the implemented wage rate it shall be retroactively applied to the date of the written letter of dispute submitted to the Director of Human Resources of the Local Union President.
  - For a new classification, if the wage rate is more than the implemented wage rate, it shall be retroactively applied to the date of implementation of the new classification.
  - For both existing and new classifications, if the wage rate is less than the implemented wage rate it shall be implemented effective the first day of the next pay period following the Classification Review Committee decision or the decision of the Arbitrator.
- g. Should the Classification Review Committee not reach consensus on a wage rate it may be referred to arbitration for final determination by a mutually agreed upon arbitrator.

Prior to any arbitration the parties may participate in mediation through the Department of Labour, Skills and immigration.

Following each meeting, if there is more than one referral pursuant to (g), then those matters may be referred to the same Mediator/Arbitrator at the same hearing.

The arbitration costs will be shared equally between the parties.

#### Article 24 Labour Management Committee

- 24.01 A Labour Management Committee ("the Committee") shall be established consisting of a maximum of four (4) representatives of the Union and four (4) representatives of the Employer. The mandate of the Committee is to foster good communication and effective working relationships between the Parties. The Committee cannot override the normal functioning of the grievance or collective bargaining process between the Parties.
- 24.02 The Committee shall concern itself with the following matters:
  - (a) Considering constructive criticisms of all activities so that better relations shall exist between the Employer and the Employees;
  - (b) Improving and extending service to the community;
  - (c) Reviewing suggestions from Employees, questions of working conditions and service (but not grievances concerned with conditions or service);
  - (d) Correcting conditions causing grievances and misunderstandings;
  - (e) Staff development and training, including recommendations for particular development or training programs, for employees in accordance with Article 29.
- 24.03 The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times per year (or more frequently if agreed by the Parties) for a maximum of three (3) hours per meeting at a mutually agreed upon time and place. Either party may cancel the meeting for a lack of agenda items. Employees shall not suffer any loss of pay for time spent with this Committee or the time required to prepare information for Committee meetings. Union preparation for the meeting shall be limited to the day of the meeting.
- 24.04 An Employer and a Union representative shall be designated as joint chairpersons and shall alternate in presiding over meetings. The Chairperson shall be responsible for creating and distributing the agenda prior to the meeting and keeping the minutes.
- 24.05 Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared and signed by the joint chairpersons as promptly as possible after the close of the meeting. The Union and the Employer shall receive two signed copies of the minutes.

#### Article 25 Medically Related Procedures & Behaviour Management Support

- 25.01 Medically related procedures may include but are not limited to the following items. Employees shall not be required to perform items (a) through (g) unless the procedure is specified in the respective job posting and such Employees have received practical training from a qualified medical professional:
  - (a) catheterization
  - (b) tube feeding
  - (c) suctioning
  - (d) ostomy care
  - (e) seizure management
  - (f) inhalation therapy (with the exception of puffers)
  - (g) diabetic pump
  - (h) diabetic monitoring
  - (i) distribution of medication
  - (j) physiotherapy and occupational therapy
  - (k) speech therapy
- 25.02 Prior to requiring an Employee to perform any medically related procedure the Employee shall be provided with detailed instructions. Such instructions shall, as a minimum contain the following:
  - (a) A clear description of the condition(s) for which the student requires a medical related procedure;
  - (b) A clear description of any and all procedures which are to be administered to the student in any and all circumstances; and
  - (c) A detailed listing of any and all adverse effects which may occur.

Notwithstanding the above, instructions shall not require an Employee to exercise medical judgment for which they are not trained in accordance with Article 25.01.

- 25.03 All medication which accompanies a student to school shall be properly labeled and shall have the dosage clearly described. Administration of the medication shall be in accordance with the policy.
- 25.04 Employees shall not be required to provide Behavior Management Support unless it is specified in the respective job posting and such Employees have received practical training on Behavior Management Support within a reasonable time of commencing in the position.

#### Article 26 Clothing and Equipment

- 26.01 No Employee shall be required to wear a uniform, other provided clothing or equipment unless mutually agreed between the Union and the Employer.
- 26.02 The Employer will make every effort to purchase uniforms and clothing which are made in Canada and bears a recognized union label.
- 26.03 Uniforms or work clothing shall not be substituted for protective clothing, and protective clothing shall not be substituted for uniforms or work clothing.
- 26.04 When a need can be demonstrated, the Employer will provide protective cover clothing or protective equipment to an Employee on request from the Employee. The Employer will repair or replace clothing or equipment when necessary.
- 26.05 (a) The Employer will reimburse an Employee the cost of repairs to a personal vehicle where the damage was caused by a student while being transported in the Employee's personal vehicle during the course of the Employee's work duties and where such cost is not otherwise covered by insurance. The Employee must provide receipts for all such costs.
  - (b) Where the personal property of an Employee, other than in (a) above, is damaged in the course of the Employee's duties, the Employer shall reimburse the Employee for reasonable costs relating to dry-cleaning, repair or replacement to a maximum of one hundred dollars \$100.00 per item. The Employer shall make the decision as to whether the damage occurred in the course of the Employee's duties.

#### Article 27 Occupational Health and Safety

- 27.01 The Employer, the Union and all Employees agree to cooperate in the prevention of incidents and in the promotion of a safe and healthy work environment. All parties agree to comply with all applicable provisions of the Nova Scotia Occupational Health and Safety Act and Regulations (OH&S Act) and/or any relevant provisions under the Nova Scotia Environment Act and Regulations. All parties recognize that occupational health and safety is the shared responsibility of the Employer, the Union and individual Employees.
- 27.02 The Employer recognizes that workplace violence is an occupational health and safety issue, and that the Employer will take appropriate actions to prevent violence wherever possible and reduce the harm caused by violence that is not prevented.
  - (a) Through its Occupational Health and Safety Committees, both at the worksite and regionally, the Employer will work with the Union to regularly review policy, procedures and guidelines to address injuries and hazards in the workplace including those resulting from violence.
  - (b) It is the role of the workplace Occupational Health and Safety Committees to review workplace injuries and incidents. The Regional Occupational Health and Safety Committee if applicable or the Labour Management Committee shall have the mandate to review trends and statistics and make recommendations for region-wide responses to concerns.
  - (c) The Employer agrees to have a current violence risk assessment for all worksites in accordance with the OH&S Act. The violence risk assessment will include, but will not be limited to:
    - (i) Violence that has occurred in the workplace in the past
    - (ii) Violence that is known to occur in similar workplaces
    - (iii) The circumstances in which work takes place
    - (iv) The interactions that occur in the course of performing work
    - (v) The physical location and layout of the workplace
    - (vi) Any specific factors recommended by the workplace Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee.

The Violence Risk Assessment will be updated as required by the OH&S Act.

- (d) The Employer agrees to develop a Workplace Violence Prevention Plan in accordance with the OH&S Act.
- (e) The Employer will provide training on violence prevention to all Employees who are exposed to a significant risk of violence in the workplace that includes:
  - (i) The workplace Violence Prevention Plan
  - (ii) Recognition of warning signs and/or triggers for violence

- (iii) Techniques to identify and de-escalate situations with the potential for violence
- (iv) How to summon help in the event of an incident of violence
- (v) How to exit an unsafe situation

Training will be provided before the Employee is assigned to work in any area where a significant risk of violence has been identified in the Violence Risk Assessment and Workplace Violence Prevention Plan.

The Employer agrees to provide time and resources for this training and to ensure that Employees suffer no loss of pay or benefits.

(f) The employer agrees to provide the supports that are required under the OH&S act where appropriate in situations of domestic violence involving employees that impact the worksite.

The Employer recognizes that Employees sometimes face situations of domestic violence that may impact them at work. These impacts may be seen in such areas as an employee's attendance, and performance. As such, the Employer will provide reasonable accommodation to employees who are victims of domestic violence. Workers experiencing domestic violence shall not be subject to adverse action related to workplace absences associated with domestic violence. Employees who are experiencing domestic violence shall not be subject to discipline in the event the domestic violence impacts on their work performance and attendance.

Employees who suffer workplace absences as a result of domestic violence will, after exhausting any paid leave provisions under the Provincial Labour Standards Code with respect to domestic violence, be able to access any appropriate paid leave provisions within the Regional Collective Agreement should such paid leave provisions exist. Should all paid leave provisions be exhausted, employees may request unpaid leave.

The Employer will make every reasonable effort to protect the confidentiality of Employees experiencing domestic violence. Additionally, information related to domestic violence will not be placed in an employees personnel file without their prior consent.

- (g) The Employer will not discriminate or retaliate against an Employee who has reported an injury or an incident.
- 27.03 If requested by the employee the Employer will provide support and counseling in response to the incidents or injuries sustained in the workplace. Employees must first utilize and exhaust the counseling offered by the EAP program.

## Article 28 Technological and Other Changes Complete

- 28.01 In this Article, "technological change" means:
  - the introduction of equipment, material or processes different in nature, type or quantity from that previously used;
  - (b) any change in work methods, organization, operations or processes affecting one or more employees;
  - (c) any change in the location at which the work, undertaking or business operates;
  - (d) any change in the work, undertaking or business carried on by the Employer including any change in function performed and including the removal of any part of the work, undertaking or business.
- 28.02 When the Employer is considering the introduction of system wide technological change:
  - (a) The Employer agrees to notify the Union in writing at least two (2) months in advance where possible of its intentions and to update the information provided as new developments arise and modifications are made. Where two months notice cannot be given, the Employer will notify the Union in writing of the reasons such notice cannot be given.
  - (b) The Employers intention to introduce technological change and the effect this will have on the employees will be discussed with the Union prior to implementation.
- 28.03 The notice mentioned in Article 28.02 (a) shall be given in writing and shall contain all pertinent information including:
  - (a) The nature of the change;
  - (b) The date on which the Employer proposes to effect the change;
  - The approximate number, type and location of Employees likely to be affected by the change;
  - (d) The effects the change may be expected to have on Employees' working conditions and terms of employment.
- 28.04 If the Employer introduces new equipment or software, the Employees affected will be given the opportunity to be re-trained on the new equipment or software. If the Employee determines that they do not wish to be re-trained, they will be issued a layoff notice in accordance with Article 12 of this Collective Agreement.

### Article 29 Professional Development and Incentive Grants

- 29.01 The Employer is interested in encouraging Employees to improve their educational qualifications in subjects and fields of endeavor which are related to the Employer's operations, activities and objectives and which will place the Employees in a position to improve their job performance.
- 29.02 The Employer agrees to pay incentive grants and to budget annually for this purpose.
- 29.03 When an Employee who has obtained prior approval from the Employer presents proof of the successful completion of a Professional Development Course(s) and receipt(s), the Employer shall reimburse the Employee as follows:
  - (a) 100% of the tuition costs up to three hundred dollars (\$300.00);
  - (b) courses with the tuition costs in excess of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) will in addition have the first one hundred dollars (\$100.00) that is in excess of the three hundred dollars (\$300.00) paid, plus 50% of the remaining costs;
  - (c) half (1/2) credit courses with tuition costs up to one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) will be reimbursed 100%;
  - (d) half (1/2) credit courses with tuition costs in excess of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) will in addition have the first one hundred dollars (\$100.00) that is in excess of the one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150.00) paid, plus 50% of the remaining costs.
- 29.04 The Centre will provide an in-service day for Employees in each classification in the Collective Agreement. An in-service day will be one of the five (5) existing in-service days.
  - (a) When a group in-service is provided, the Employer shall be responsible for designing the program, with input from Labour Management Committee, and the in-service shall occur during working hours.
  - (b) Employees shall be paid at the Employee's regular straight time rate of pay when attending group Employer organized in-service for all hours of actual attendance.
  - (c) The Employer may approve attendance and fund registration fees and expenses for Employees to attend external in-service.
  - (d) When the Employer is not providing in service on the provincial conference day, the Employer agrees to provide funds to enable Employees to attend the annual Provincial In-Service Conference, which would include registration fees and an allowance for expenses for all Employees

- 29.05 Upon approval by the Employer, and at the written request of the Employee, the Employer shall grant permission for an Employee to attend, without loss of pay, seniority or benefits, a seminar or conference directly related to their job.
- 29.06 The Employer may approve the payment of the annual dues or membership fees for professional or trade associations of Employees where maintaining such memberships will enhance the ability of the Employee to do their job, or where maintaining such memberships is a requirement in order to fulfill their job qualifications.
- 29.07 The Employer shall make available to the Union and Employees, notices and descriptions of development and training opportunities that are available to Employees.
- 29.08 When the Employer requests an Employee to participate in a training program, seminar or course, the Employer shall pay 100% of the cost, and the Employee shall not lose any pay or other benefits.

#### Training and Professional Development

- 29.09 (a) The parties agree that prior to May 31st of each year there will be a designated time at a Labour Management Meeting to discuss a suggested schedule/calendar and proposed training and professional development topics for the following school year as provided by the employer.
  - (b) The Union, either at the meeting or in advance of the meeting, will provide the Employer with training and development ideas for their members which takes into account the variety of job classifications and interests of all members of the bargaining unit.

#### Article 30 Payment of Wages & Allowance

30.01

- (a) The salary scales in Schedule A of the Collective Agreement are effective April 1, 2024.
  - (b) Where applicable, progress through the wage increment steps provided for in Schedule A shall be automatic, so that a permanent Employee shall receive the wage rate of the next higher step on their anniversary date. However, any period of unpaid time off work pursuant to Articles 16.06 and 16.08 unpaid time off upon expiry of sick leave shall not be considered in determining progress through the wage increment steps.
- (c) Notwithstanding (b) above, progress through the wage increment steps provided for in Schedule A for term Employees shall be determined based on consecutive term service.
- (d) (i) An employee whose employment has been severed between the expiration date of the previous collective agreement and the date of signing of this collective agreement shall receive any retroactive wage increases provided the employee contacts the employer in writing within 30 calendar days of the date of signing of this collective agreement and provides the necessary personal mailing address and/or banking information.
  - (ii) Employees who retire between the expiration date of the previous collective agreement and the date of signing of this agreement shall receive any retroactive wage increase regardless of whether they contact the employer.
- 30.02 (a) The Employer agrees to pay all Employees biweekly by direct deposit and the Employee shall be provided with a statement showing all amounts paid (including vacation pay) or deducted for the period and the reasons therefore.

The first pay date in the school year shall be the first Thursday in August that corresponds with the existing pay cycle.

- (b) (i) Any errors or omissions on an Employee's regular pay or overtime which result in a net underpayment of more than one hundred dollars (\$100.00) shall be adjusted no later than ten (10) days following notification to the Employer in writing; however, the Employer will make all reasonable efforts to process such adjustments as soon as possible.
  - (ii) Any errors or omissions on an Employee's regular pay or overtime which result in a net underpayment of less than one hundred dollars (\$100.00) shall be adjusted no later than 21 days following notification to the employer in writing.

- 30.03 (a) Overpayment of salary may be recovered by the Centre by withholding the amount of such overpayment in equal deductions from the pay due to the Employee within a ten (10) month period or such other manner as agreed to by the Employee and the Centre.
  - (b) Notwithstanding (a) above, overpayment of salary to an Employee of six hundred dollars (\$600.00) or less may be recovered by the Centre by withholding up to a maximum of twenty-three dollars (\$23.00) per pay.
  - (c) Notwithstanding (a) and (b) above, overpayment of salary to an Employee working less than the full school year may be recovered by the Centre by withholding the amount of such overpayment in equal deductions from the Employee's remaining pay periods.
  - (d) Notwithstanding (a), (b), and (c) above, overpayment of salary to an Employee may be recovered by the Centre immediately in its entirety provided the Employee is made aware of the error in writing within two (2) weeks of the overpayment.
  - (e) If a grievance has been filed with respect to (a) through (d) above, the period of recovery under this Article shall not commence until the Centre has responded to the grievance pursuant to Article 13.03(d).
- 30.04 The amount of annual union dues and all other deductions shall be included on each Employee's T-4 form in the spaces provided. If no space is provided for any deduction, a separate statement shall be provided by the Employer. The Employer may not make deductions from wages or salaries unless authorized by statute, court order, arbitration order or by this Collective Agreement.
- 30.05 An Employee assigned, promoted or reclassified in accordance with this Collective Agreement to a higher paying position shall receive the rate of pay and benefits for that position for the time they perform that job.
- 30.06

(a)

- An Employee appointed to a permanent position in a higher classification will be paid at the step on the higher classification wage scale that ensures a minimum five percent (5%) wage increase.
- (b) An Employee appointed to a permanent position in a lower classification will be paid at the step on the lower classification wage scale that is equal to their current wage or, if an equal step does not exist, the closest step that is less than their current wage.
- (c) Notwithstanding (a) and (b) above, where there is one salary for the classification, the Employee will be paid that salary.
- 30.07 When an Employee temporarily relieves in or performs the principle duties of a higher paying position within the bargaining unit, the Employee shall receive the pay for that position at the step equivalent to the step they occupy in their regular position.

#### 30.08 Travel Allowances

- (a) All Employees required to use their own vehicles for the Employer's business during working hours, overtime hours, travel for education or training seminars, exams or conferences shall be reimbursed at the provincial government rate which may change from time to time. All travel shall be calculated from the first day to the last day of each calendar month.
- (b) The Employer shall also pay the difference in premiums between the rate for liability insurance on the Employee's vehicle if used for personal use only and the rate required to insure such vehicle if used as well for the purpose of the Employer.
- (c) As a condition of employment, the Employer shall not require the Employee to own an automobile.
- (j) Employees shall be paid a travel allowance when the Employer creates a single position or combines more than one position into a single position, encompassing more than one site, and as a result the Employee holding the position uses their own vehicle to travel from site to site in the performance of their job. This travel shall be reimbursed at the provincial government rate which may change from time to time. All travel shall be calculated from the first day to the last day of each calendar month.

Employees who travel from one work site to another during lunch break shall not be required to begin work at the work site they are travelling to until they have received a lunch break which will not include any time spent traveling between the work sites.

30.09 An Employee who uses their personal vehicle for the transportation of a student(s) in the course of their work duties will be required to follow the Centre's *Student Transportation Policy* including completion of the appropriate form.

#### Article 31 Pension Plan

- 31.01 All Employees shall enroll in the Halifax Regional Municipality Pension Plan. Employees shall be governed by the rules and regulations of the Halifax Regional Municipality Pension Plan.
- 31.02 Where possible, Employees shall submit confirmation of retirement, in writing, including the date of retirement by May 1 of the school year in which they plan to retire.
- 31.03 Effective January 1, 2026, for the purpose of pensionable service only, it is understood that Employees are considered permanent full time Employees when their hours of work are as follows:
  - (a) Library Support Specialists: minimum twenty-six (26) hours per week from Monday through Friday.
  - (b) Educational Program Assistants: minimum five and three fifths (5.6) daily from Monday through Friday.
  - (c) Early Childhood Educators (Support): six (6) hours daily from Monday through Friday.
  - (d) Student Support Workers, Community Outreach Workers, Early Childhood Educators (Lead), Child and Youth Care Practitioners and Assistive Technology Support Workers: seven (7) hours daily from Monday through Friday.

### Article 32 Benefit Plan

- 32.01 The Employer agrees to share the cost of the premiums for the group life insurance plan and group medical plan for all Employees who qualify for the plan(s). The Employer shall contribute eighty percent (80%) and the Employees shall contribute twenty percent (20%) to the cost of the premiums.
- 32.02 The group life insurance plan shall include provisions for voluntary life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance (A.D.&D.) benefits. Such plans shall provide minimum benefits in the amount of two and one-half (2.5) times the Employee's annual salary in the event of the Employee's death, and this plan shall also provide for a proportionate amount of A.D.&D.
- 32.03 The Employee agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for an LTD plan for all permanent Employees. The long-term disability plan shall provide coverage for not less than 67% of an Employee's annual wages or salary until age sixty-five (65) based on an Employee's ability to perform all of the required functions of their own occupation.
- 32.04 The Employer will provide information booklets to all new Employees and update all present Employees when necessary regarding the insurance and health care plans.
- 32.05 The Employer shall provide an Employee Assistance Program.

#### CUPE Local 5047 & Child and Youth Care Practitioner Benefits

32.06 In recognition of the Child and Youth Care Practitioners joining 5047's bargaining unit on December 8, 2021 and to recognize the difference in benefits levels between 5047's group benefit plan and the Professional Employee Group plan, HRCE agrees to provide 400\$ (four hundred dollars) as a Health Benefit Spending account over and above the current supplemental group benefits provided to employees who joined the bargaining unit on December 8, 2021. It is agreed that any employees in this classification who became employed once the supplemental group benefits converted to the plan currently in place for members of 5047, will not be eligible for this health spending account. Such benefit will continue for the applicable employees so long as they continue to be employed by HRCE in the capacity of a Child and Youth Care Practitioner.

#### Article 33 Compensable Accident

- 33.01 The Employer shall continue to pay workers' compensation premiums as required by the *Workers' Compensation Act.*
- 33.02 Where permitted by the *Workers' Compensation Act* and where it will not adversely affect the compensation to be paid to an Employee, the Employer shall provide the following benefits:
  - (a) The supplementing ("topping off") of pay (excluding the first two (2) days following a compensable injury) up to a maximum of eighty-five percent (85%) of the net pay of the Employee as calculated in accordance with the Workers' Compensation Act; and
  - (b) The continuation of the payment of the Employer's share of any benefit plans during the term of a compensable claim up to a maximum of thirty (30) months.
- 33.03 The Employer shall continue to pay Employees, through the Employer's payroll system, all amounts approved by the Workers' Compensation Board together with any top-up. The Employee shall provide the Employer and/or the Workers' Compensation Board with authorization to have Workers' Compensation benefits made payable to the Employer.
- 33.04 If an Employee is injured on duty and applies for Workers' Compensation and is denied, the Employer will permit the Employee to use their sick leave (including) where the absence was for two (2) days or less.

#### Article 34 Deferred Salary Leave

- 34.01 The Employer agrees that all members of the bargaining unit shall be entitled to participate in a Deferred Salary Leave Plan. This plan shall provide Employees with the opportunity to take a leave of absence, financed through the deferral of their salary. This plan is designed as a "prescribed" plan under the Income Tax Act and Regulations.
- 34.02 An Employee must make written or on-line application to their Human Resource Services Unit Manager before April 30th of the school year prior to the school year the deferral is to commence, requesting participation in the plan.
- 34.03 Employees who enroll in the plan upon return from leave shall be assigned to their equivalent position or, if the position no longer exists, the Employee shall be governed by the appropriate terms of this Collective Agreement.
- 34.04 The payment of salary and benefits and the timing of the period of leave shall be as follows:
  - (a) During the deferral period of the Plan, preceding the period of leave, the Employee will be paid a reduced percentage of their salary. The remaining percentage of salary will be deferred, and this accumulated amount plus the interest earned shall be retained for the Employee by the Employer to finance the period of leave.
  - (b) The deferred amounts, when received, are considered to be salary or wages and as such are subject to withholding for income taxes, Canada Pension Plan, and Employment Insurance at that time.
  - (c) The calculation of interest under the terms of this Plan shall be done monthly (not in advance). The interest paid shall be calculated by averaging the interest rates in effect on the last day of each calendar month for: a true savings account, a one (1) year term deposit, a three (3) year term deposit, and a five (5) year term deposit. The rates for each of the accounts identified shall be those quoted by the financial institution maintaining the deferred account. Interest shall be based upon the average daily balance of the account and credited to the Employee's account on the first day of the following calendar month.
  - (d) A yearly statement of the amount standing in the Employee's credit will be sent to the Employee by the Employer.
  - (e) The maximum length of the deferral period will be six (6) years and the maximum deferred amount will be thirty-three and one-third percent (33 1/3%) of salary in any one taxation year. The maximum length of any contract under the Plan will be seven (7) years.
  - (f) The Employee may arrange for any length of deferral period in accordance with the provisions set out above.

- (g) Once entered into, the contract provisions concerning the percentage of salary deferred and the period of deferral may be amended by mutual agreement between the Employee and Employer.
- 34.05 While an Employee is enrolled in the plan, and not on leave, any benefits tied to salary shall be structured according to the salary the Employee would have received had they not enrolled in the plan.
- 34.06 The Employee's benefits will be maintained during their leave of absence; however, the premium costs of all benefits shall be paid by the Employee during the leave of absence through their bi-weekly pay.
- 34.07 While on leave, any benefits tied to salary shall be structured according to the salary the Employee would have received in the year prior to taking leave had they not been enrolled in the plan.
- 34.08 Sick leave shall not accumulate and cannot be used during the period of leave.
- 34.09 The period of leave shall be considered as a period of pensionable service if the pension plan allows, and accrual of seniority.
- 34.10 In the years prior to going on leave, while enrolled in the Deferred Salary Leave Plan, Employees shall have deductions for income tax and other withholdings made from the reduced gross salary as permitted by legislation.
- 34.11 During the year of deferred leave, the Employee shall pay the full cost of insurance and health benefits available under the plans and the Employer shall pay one half of the pension contributions as permitted by the Pension Plan.
- 34.12 Employees shall be eligible under the Deferred Salary Leave Plan to request leaves of either three (3), six (6), nine (9) or twelve (12) month periods.

#### 34.13 Withdraw from Plan

- (a) An Employee may withdraw from the Plan in unusual or extenuating circumstances, such as, but not limited to, financial hardship, serious illness or disability, family death or serious illness, or termination of employment. Withdrawal must be submitted in writing, detailing the reason(s) therefore, as soon as possible prior to the termination of the leave.
- (b) In the event of withdrawal, the Employee shall be paid a lump adjustment equal to any monies deferred plus accrued interest. Repayment shall be

made as soon as possible within sixty (60) calendar days of withdrawal from the Plan.

- (c) An Employee who is laid off during the deferral period will be required to withdraw from the plan.
- (d) Should an Employee die while participating in the Plan, any monies accumulated plus interest accrued at the time of death shall be paid to the Employee's estate as soon as possible within two (2) bi-weekly pay periods upon notice to the Employer.

#### Article 35 Liability Insurance

- 35.01 The Employer shall obtain a personal liability policy to cover all Employees of the bargaining unit.
- 35.02 The policy shall provide protection for each Employee acting in the course of their duties against personal liability arising out of an injury to any person for which the Employee may be held legally responsible.
- 35.03 The policy shall provide protection for each Employee in the amount of three million dollars (\$3,000,000.00).
- 35.04 The cost of the policy shall be paid for by the Employer.
- 35.05 The policy shall be the first payer in relation to any policy carried by or on behalf of the Employee except where there is involvement of an Employee's automobile.

#### Article 36 Effect of Legislation

- 36.01 If any Article in this Agreement or part thereof is altered or rendered invalid by the operation of existing or future legislation, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the remainder of this term.
- 36.02 The Employer shall notify the Union of any conflicts which come to the attention of the Employer between this Agreement and such laws, regulations, or rulings.
- 36.03 Any portion of this Agreement that is so altered or invalidated shall, on the request of either party, be negotiated by the Employer and the Union and shall be replaced or altered as may be mutually agreed between the Parties.

### Article 37 Entire Agreement

- 37.01 This Agreement, including any changes mutually agreed upon in writing or any document expressly in Human Resources into this Agreement by virtue of being specifically identified below, represents the entire Agreement between the Parties:
  - (a) appendices affixed to this Agreement;
  - (b) Memorandum of Agreement.

#### Article 38 Duration

- 38.01 The term of this Agreement shall be from April 1, 2024 March 31, 2026 and thereafter from year to year unless or until either party gives notice in writing to bargain during the three (3) months period preceding the date of its termination.
- 38.02 This Agreement, during its term, may be amended from time to time by mutual agreement, in writing, of the Parties.

### Article 39 No Strike/No Lock-Out

39.01 The Union agrees that it shall not declare or authorize a strike during the term of this Collective Agreement. The Employer agrees that it shall not declare or cause a lock-out during the term of this Collective Agreement. The terms strike and lock-out are as defined in the *Trade Union Act*.

### Article 40 Benefit and Binding

40.01 This agreement and everything herein contained shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto, their successors and assigns respectively.

In witness whereof the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed by the hands of their duly authorized officers and the affixing of their respective seals on the day and year first above mentioned.

In witness whereof the Parties hereto have executed this agreement this of April, at Dartmouth in the Halifax Regional Municipality, Nova Scotia.

Signed on behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 5047:

Signed on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education:

Shelley McNed

President CUPE Local 5047

mna Donna McCarthy

Heather Stenason

Forbethe

**Tia Forsythe** 

Tracy O'Kroneo

Jeri Lee McElhiney - Chief Negotiator

Jenny- Kate Hadley

André Pothier

Renee orbes

Janet Esquival

### Letter of Understanding #1 - Duty to Accommodate

### between the

### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

### and the

### HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

### DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE

In circumstances where a member of the CUPE bargaining unit may be unable to perform the regular duties of their position due to a mental or physical disability, the Employer and the Union, together with the affected Employee, shall meet or discuss the available evidence regarding the existence and nature of the disability and, if necessary, options with respect to the accommodation of the Employee. The Parties agree to work together to consider how the Employee's disability can reasonably be accommodated without causing undue hardship to the Employer, the Employee, or the Union. The affected Employee shall participate and cooperate fully in this process.

The Parties to this Letter of Understanding, and the affected Employee, shall share with each other all pertinent information for the accommodation of the affected Employee, including functional information pertaining to the Employee's disability, and information regarding the requirements/duties of the Employee's position.

The Parties agree that they will attempt to accommodate Employees as follows, in the following order:

- (a) in their current position;
- (b) in their current classification;
- (c) in another classification with equivalent hours/salary, but for which the Employee possesses the qualifications as required for the position and competencies as set out in the job description.
- (d) in another classification which does not have equivalent hours/rate of pay, but for which the Employee possesses the qualifications as required for the position and competencies as set out in the job description.

In considering the feasibility of the options set out in the preceding paragraph, the Parties shall consider, but are not limited to, options such as the modification of duties, shifts, equipment, and/or the retraining of the Employee.

It is understood and agreed that nothing in the Letter of Understanding will require the Employer, the Union or the affected Employee to agree to an accommodation which would impose undue hardship on the Employer, Union or affected Employee. The Employer agrees that it will not impose an accommodation which has the effect of abridging or infringing Collective Agreement rights of other bargaining unit members unless there is no other reasonable alternative.

Agreements between the Parties regarding the accommodation of Employees shall be reduced to writing. These agreements shall contain provisions regarding the process which will be followed by the Parties in the event that there is a change in the accommodated Employee's circumstances, including a lessening or worsening of the Employee's disability.

AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

Date April 29 20 25

nyan Signature

april 29.2025 Date

### Letter of Understanding #2 - Redundancies Pursuant to Article 9.03 ( c)

#### between the

#### **CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047**

#### and the

### HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

#### **REDUNDANCIES PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 9.03(c)**

WHEREAS the Parties have a shared interest in minimizing disruption of Employees at a site;

AND WHEREAS the Employer has an interest in maintaining continuity for students at a site;

AND WHEREAS under the application of Article 9.03(c), multiple employees must be made redundant in order to achieve the right mix of allocations;

AND WHEREAS fewer employees would be reduced if less senior employees could be skipped in order to impact a more senior employee whose allocation must be altered to achieve the right mix of allocations;

THE PARTIES AGREE THAT:

During the annual end of year staffing allocations, where the Centre has determined redundancies in accordance with Article 9.03(c) that require that three (3) or more Employees at a site are to be declared redundant to reduce an allocation by one (1) full time equivalent (FTE) or less, the Centre shall notify the Union and the Parties shall discuss reasonable alternatives.

#### AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

April 29, 2025

Myou

April 29, 2025 Date

### Letter of Understanding #3 - Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.02(a)

### between the

### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

### and the

### HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

### LAYOFF PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 12.02(a)

The Parties agree that, during the life of this Collective Agreement, the process under Article 12.02(a) is as follows:

- 1. If an Employee has been declared redundant and is unwilling or unable to receive an equivalent position upon completion of the third round of postings, then the Employee will receive a lay-off notice.
- 2. Once the Employee has received the lay-off notice then they will become a laid off Employee on September 20<sup>th</sup> of the year in which they received the lay-off notice. On September 20<sup>th</sup> their pay and benefits will terminate [subject to the Employee's election in Article 12.09(a].
- 3. An Employee's status is determined by how and when they receive a term position.
  - a. If subsequent to the receipt of the lay-off notice the Employee is able to receive a term position the Employee can choose to accept the term position or remain on lay-off. If they accept the term position they will still be considered as a laid off Employee as of September 20<sup>th</sup> of the year in which the notice was provided. If the term position accepted by the Employee is at a lower percentage than their previously held permanent position, the Centre will pay the Employee the higher percentage until September 20<sup>th</sup> of the year in which the notice was provided. Following September 20<sup>th</sup> of the year in which the notice was provided. Following September 20<sup>th</sup> the Employee's pay will revert to their actual percentage in the term position. The laid off Employee occupying the term position runs until the end of the school year they will be paid until July 31<sup>st</sup> based on a smoothing formula. The laid off Employee will not receive any further pay or benefits unless they are recalled in accordance with the Collective Agreement. At the end of the term position they will be a laid off Employee and have recall rights in accordance with Article 12.11 and 12.13.
  - b. A redundant Employee who receives a term position in the first or second or third round of postings will not receive a lay-off notice and will remain a redundant Employee. At the point when their term position comes to an end they would continue to be paid based on the percentage they held prior to being declared redundant. The pay would continue until either they are laid off in accordance with the Collective Agreement or receive a different position.

- 4. The Employer has agreed to indicate, both by way of the layoff notice and the term appointment that the Employee who has received the layoff notice and then gets a term position will not be paid beyond the end of the following July (the end of the term).
- 5. The Employer has agreed to provide a Record of Employment that is effective either as of September 20<sup>th</sup> (the date of lay-off for an Employee who does not accept or receive a term position), or as of July 31<sup>st</sup> (in a situation where the laid off Employee accepts a term position).
- 6. An Employee laid off at other times of the year who subsequently accepts a term position would not be paid beyond the end of the term.

AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

Date April 20, 2025

Man Signature

29 2025

# Letter of Understanding #4 - Layoff Pursuant to Article 12.05(a)

### between the

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

### and the

# HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

# LAYOFF PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 12.05(a)

WHEREAS the Parties have a shared interest in minimizing disruption of Employees at a site;

AND WHEREAS the Employer has an interest in maintaining continuity for students at a site;

AND WHEREAS under the application of Article 12.05(a), multiple employees must be laid off in order to achieve the right mix of allocations;

AND WHEREAS fewer employees would be laid off if less senior employees could be skipped in order to impact a more senior employee whose allocation must be altered to achieve the right mix of allocations;

THE PARTIES AGREE THAT:

Where the Centre has determined layoffs in accordance with Article 12.05(a) that require that two (2) or more Employees at a site are to be laid off to reduce an allocation by one (1) full time equivalent (FTE) or less, the Centre shall notify the Union and the Parties shall discuss reasonable alternatives.

## AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

April 21, 2025

Maa

Dil 29, 2025

### Letter of Understanding #5 - Re: Employment Equity

The participating Education Entities and the participating Locals of the Nova Scotia School Board Council of Unions recognize the diverse communities served by the participating Education Entities. The composition of the workforce should reflect the diversity of these communities. To that end, the parties agree as follows:

- a) The Education Entities will develop an Employment Equity Program which ensures that employment barriers and systematic discriminatory practices are identified, and strategies developed and implemented to achieve a fair and reasonable representation of diverse applicants. The Education Entities will consult with its CUPE representatives in the development of this Employment Equity Program.
- b) Diverse applicants, for the purpose of this Letter of Understanding, is defined to include African Nova Scotians or persons of African descent, members of other racially visible groups, Mi'kmaq/indigenous peoples, persons with disabilities, women in non-traditional roles, and persons belonging to sexual orientation, gender expression and/or gender identity minority groups.

The Parties agree:

- 1. Timelines and goals will be developed for the implementation of the Program.
- 2. An education and training program will be developed for implementation of the Program and to foster advancement of all interested employees.

The typical stages in the implementation of an Employment Equity Program may include:

- 1. Agreement of the Employer and Bargaining Unit to conduct a self-identification survey.
- 2. The Employer will be responsible for the maintenance of the self-identification data.
- 3. Reporting of the statistical results of the self-identification survey.
- 4. Analysis of the results of the self-identification survey to compare the number of identified people in the bargaining unit with the identified peoples within the boundaries of the applicable RCE or CSAP.
- 5. Development of goals and timelines to eliminate the discrepancies in representation of identified peoples between the bargaining unit and the general population.
- 6. Joint education and training for all employees with respect to the implementation of the Employment Equity Program.
- 7. Training and development to foster advancement of all interested employees within the bargaining unit.
- 8. Recruitment of identified peoples.
- 9. Skills, qualifications, experience as selection criteria for vacant positions.

10. An annual and review of the progress towards development of a representative population within the bargaining unit.

### Process for Diverse Hires

- I. Notwithstanding any specific clauses contained in the Local Collective Agreement, an Education Entity may, in the job selection process for any position (permanent, part-time, etc.), give preference to a diverse applicant provided the applicant has the skills, qualifications, experience.
- II. A participating Education Entity can only use the preference during the hiring process of up to one (1) position per twenty-five (25) job postings to a maximum of five (5) in a calendar year with the minimum of two being allowed in a calendar year. The participating Education Entity must notify the Union prior to filling an equity position and the Union may request the reasons for such preference. The posting of the position as an equity position means that external candidates can apply at the same time as internal candidates and the preference can be used to hire an external candidate. Additional applicants may be granted preference with the consent of the Union.
- III. Both the Employer and the Union agree these positions will be designated when a regular vacancy occurs. A diverse internal employee shall be awarded a designated position prior to an external candidate. If an internal employee is awarded an equity position pursuant to this clause, then the resulting vacancy will be designated as an equity position and filled by a candidate external to the education entity. This resulting vacancy will not be considered as one of the equity positions pursuant to this clause. Among internal diverse candidates the Collective Agreement applies.

### AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

April 29, 2025 Date

nna Mlarth Signature

april 29,2025 Date

### Letter of Understanding #6 - First Aid and CPR

#### Between the

### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

And the

### HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

The parties agree that:

- a) A permanent employee who requires CPR/First Aid recertification may take one day to participate in recertification training in the year in which their certificate expires. The use of such a day can occur on a non-instructional day that does not occur in September or June, or on a day that will count towards the employee's allotted number of personal days provided in 16.05. Prior approval from the Employee's supervisor is required.
- b) Funding for the recertification will be requested and provided through Article 29.
- c) If a current employee has expired certification at the date of signing, they will be eligible for the provisions in this LOU for a period of one year from the date of signing.

AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

April 29, 2025

Man

april 29,2025 Date

### Letter of Understanding #7 – Special Leave for Union Business

### Between the

### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 5047

And the

### HALIFAX REGIONAL CENTRE FOR EDUCATION

This Letter of Understanding will expire at the end of the term of this collective agreement.

- a. Subject to the operational requirements of the Employer, special leave shall be granted to Employees who require leave to conduct union business, excluding days provided in Articles 2.05(a), (c) and 16.01.
- b. The Union will submit the request to the Labour Relations Consultant or designate at least twenty (20) days in advance of the requested leave. The Labour Relations Consultant or designate will respond to the request for leave within ten (10) working days.
- c. The Employer shall bill the Union for the employees' wages and employer's share of benefits and the Union shall reimburse the Employer within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the invoice.

### AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

Synl 29,

Marth Signature

il 29, 2025

### Memorandum of Agreement #1 - Workload and Staffing

#### BETWEEN:

### The Canadian Union of Fublic Employees Union Local 5047 ("the Union")

And

### Halifax Regional Centre for Education ("the Employer")

The Employer will continue to ensure equitable distribution of allocated resources to meet student needs at the Halifax Regional Centre for Education.

The Parties agree the following will be discussed at Labour Management Committee:

- Staffing formulas that it currently uses;
- Recommendations to improve recruitment and retention for the classifications covered by this collective agreement.

AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signatur

128 2025 Date

Signature

### Memorandum of Understanding #1 - Violence in the Workplace

AGREED February 26, 2025 5:15pm

#### **MOU on Violence in the Workplace**

The Employer and the Union agree to continue cooperating in their shared responsibility to prevent violent incidents and promote a safe work environment.

The parties agree that within one year of the signing of the collective agreement:

- All CUPE member-employees will receive training on workplace violence that will include, but will not be limited to:
  - a) The workplace violence prevention plan
  - b) Recognition of warning signs and/or triggers for violence
  - c) Techniques to identify and deescalate situations with the potential for violence
  - d) How to summon help in the event of an incident of violence.
  - e) How to exit an unsafe situation.
  - f) How to report workplace accidents, incidents, near misses, or violent incidents while ensuring confidentiality of students and staff.

The employer agrees to provide time and resources for this training and to ensure that Employees suffer no loss of pay or benefits.

2. The reporting procedure for incidents of workplace violence will be enhanced for all CUPE-member employees.

The reporting procedure shall include an electronic reporting form. Information submitted using the electronic reporting form will be **available to the employee who filed the report and** provided to the local joint occupational health and safety (JOHS) committee for review in accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act. The information provided to the JOHS will be sufficient to meet the obligations of the committee but may be in summary or redacted form (redactions will be made as per applicable privacy legislation).

\*Signed letter from the Minister, EECD, provided at the table, will be sent to &OPE upon agreement of all common table items

101

### Schedule "A"- Salaries

### April 1, 2024 - March 31, 2026

The salary tables below show the wage rates and the base hourly rates including all negotiated wage adjustments. After signing, the wage table will be revised to include the April 1, 2024 increments separately.

\*\* This table includes bare hourly rates and does not include vacation pay. \*\*

CUPE Wage Scale	Step	March 31, 2024 Hourly rate	March 31, 2024 Annual	April 1, 2024 Hourly Rate- \$0.50/hr plus 3%	April 1, 2024 Annual	August 1, 2024 Hourly Rate- 2.5%	August 1, 2024 Annual	April 1, 2025 Hourly Rate- 2%	April 1, 2025 Annual
Early C	hildhoo	d Educators,	Lead						
	1	\$ 33.55	\$ 48,379.10	\$ 35.07	\$ 50,570.94	\$ 35.95	\$ 51,839.90	\$ 36.67	\$ 52,878.14
Early C	hildhoo	d Educators,	Support						
	1	\$ 27.78	\$ 34,336.08	\$ 29.13	\$ 36,004.68	\$ 29.86	\$ 36,906.96	\$ 30.46	\$ 37,648.56
Educat	ional Pre	ogram Assist	ant						
	1	\$ 23.85	\$ 34,391.70	\$ 25.08	\$ 36,166.08	\$ 25.71	\$ 37,070.23	\$ 26.22	\$ 37,811.64
	2	\$ 24.38	\$ 35,155.96	\$ 25.63	\$ 36,953.27	\$ 26.27	\$ 37,877.10	\$ 26.79	\$ 38,634.64
	3	\$ 25.75	\$ 37,131.50	\$ 27.04	\$ 38,988.08	\$ 27.71	\$ 39,962.78	\$ 28.27	\$ 40,762.03
	4	\$ 26.27	\$ 37,881.34	\$ 27.57	\$ 39,760.41	\$ 28.26	\$ 40,754.42	\$ 28.83	\$ 41,569.51
	5	\$ 26.80	\$ 38,645.60	\$ 28.12	\$ 40,549.04	\$ 28.82	\$ 41,558.44	\$ 29.40	\$ 42,394.80
Library	Support	Specialist B	oard Based						
	1	\$ 26.90	\$ 45,461.00	\$ 28.22	\$ 47,695.18	\$ 28.93	\$ 48,887.56	\$ 29.51	\$ 49,865.31
	2	\$ 28.24	\$ 47,725.60	\$ 29.60	\$ 50,027.72	\$ 30.34	\$ 51,278.41	\$ 30.95	\$ 52,303.98
	3	\$ 29.59	\$ 50,007.10	\$ 30.99	\$ 52,377.66	\$ 31.77	\$ 53,687.10	\$ 32.40	\$ 54,760.85
	4	\$ 30.91	\$ 52,237.90	\$ 32.35	\$ 54,675.39	\$ 33.16	\$ 56,042.27	\$ 33.82	\$ 57,163.12
	5	\$ 32.25	\$ 54,502.50	\$ 33.73	\$ 57,007.93	\$ 34.58	\$ 58,433.12	\$ 35.27	\$ 59,601.79
	6	\$ 32.90	\$ 55,601.00	\$ 34.40	\$ 58,136.00	\$ 35.26	\$ 59,589.40	\$ 35.97	\$ 60,789.30
Library	Support	Specialist S	chool Based						
	1	\$ 25.68	\$ 34,385.52	\$ 26.97	\$ 36,106.67	\$ 27.64	\$ 37,009.34	\$ 28.19	\$ 37,749.52
-	2	\$ 26.25	\$ 35,148.75	\$ 27.55	\$ 36,892.80	\$ 28.24	\$ 37,815.12	\$ 28.81	\$ 38,571.42
	3	\$ 27.74	\$ 37,143.86	\$ 29.09	\$ 38,947.76	\$ 29.81	\$ 39,921.45	\$ 30.41	\$ 40,719.88
	4	\$ 28.29	\$ 37,880.31	\$ 29.65	\$ 39,706.30	\$ 30.40	\$ 40,698.96	\$ 31.00	\$ 41,512.94
	5	\$ 28.86	\$ 38,643.54	\$ 30.24	\$ 40,491.36	\$ 30.99	\$ 41,495.61	\$ 31.61	\$ 42,325.79
Studen	t Suppo	rt Workers/S	chools Plus Cor	nmunity Out	reach Workers				
	1	\$ 27.47	\$ 39,611.74	\$ 28.81	\$ 41,542.72	\$ 29.53	\$ 42,581.29	\$ 30.12	\$ 43,432.92
	2	\$ 27.60	\$ 39,799.20	\$ 28.94	\$ 41,735.81	\$ 29.67	\$ 42,779.20	\$ 30.26	\$ 43,634.79
	3	\$ 28.15	\$ 40,592.30	\$ 29.51	\$ 42,552.70	\$ 30.25	\$ 43,616.52	\$ 30.85	\$ 44,488.85
1	4	\$ 28.73	\$ 41,428.66	\$ 30.11	\$ 43,414.15	\$ 30.86	\$ 44,499.50	\$ 31.48	\$ 45,389.49
	5	\$ 29.43	\$ 42,438.06	\$ 30.83	\$ 44,453.83	\$ 31.60	\$ 45,565.18	\$ 32.23	\$ 46,476.48
	6	\$ 30.02	\$ 43,288.84	\$ 31.44	\$ 45,336.48	\$ 32.22	\$ 46,461.24	\$ 32.87	\$ 47,398.54

CUPE Wage Scale	Step	March 31, 2024 Hourly rate	March 31, 2024 Annual	April 1, 2024 Hourly Rate- \$0.50/hr plus 3%	April 1, 2024 Annual	August 1, 2024 Hourly Rate- 2.5%	August 1, 2024 Annuel	April 1, 2025 Hourly Rate- 2%	April 1, 2025 Annual
School	s Plus C	ommunity O	utreach Worker	s- 12 month					
	1	\$ 27.47	\$ 49,995.40	\$ 28.81	\$ 52,432.56	\$ 29.53	\$ 53,743.38	\$ 30.12	\$ 54,818.24
	2	\$ 27.60	\$ 50,232.00	\$ 28.94	\$ 52,676.26	\$ 29.67	\$ 53,993.17	\$ 30.26	\$ 55,073.03
	3	\$ 28.15	\$ 51,233.00	\$ 29.51	\$ 53,707.29	\$ 30.25	\$ 55,049.97	\$ 30.85	\$ 56,150.97
	4	\$ 28.73	\$ 52,288.60	\$ 30.11	\$ 54,794.56	\$ 30.86	\$ 56,164.42	\$ 31.48	\$ 57,287.71
	5	\$ 29.43	\$ 53,562.60	\$ 30.83	\$ 56,106.78	\$ 31.60	\$ 57,509.45	\$ 32.23	\$ 58,659.64
	6	\$ 30.02	\$ 54,636.40	\$ 31.44	\$ 57,220.80	\$ 32.22	\$ 58,640.40	\$ 32.87	\$ 59,823.40
Child &	Youth C	Care Practitio	ners						
	1	\$ 23.40	\$ 42,588.00	\$ 24.62	\$ 44,802.94	\$ 25.23	\$ 45,923.01	\$ 25.74	\$ 46,841.47
1.1	2	\$ 24.86	\$ 45,245.20	\$ 26.12	\$ 47,539.86	\$ 26.77	\$ 48,728.35	\$ 27.31	\$ 49,702.92
	3	\$ 26.33	\$ 47,920.60	\$ 27.63	\$ 50,295.52	\$ 28.33	\$ 51,552.91	\$ 28.89	\$ 52,583.96
-	4	\$ 27.79	\$ 50,577.80	\$ 29.14	\$ 53,032.43	\$ 29.87	\$ 54,358.24	\$ 30.46	\$ 55,445.41
	5	\$ 29.25	\$ 53,235.00	\$ 30.64	\$ 55,769.35	\$ 31.41	\$ 57,163.58	\$ 32.04	\$ 58,306.86
	6	\$ 30.71	\$ 55,892.20	\$ 32.15	\$ 58,513.00	\$ 32.95	\$ 59,969.00	\$ 33.61	\$ 61,170.20
Assistiv	e Techn	lology Suppo	rt Workers						
	1	\$ 26.09	\$ 37,621.78	\$ 27.39	\$ 39,493.06	\$ 28.07	\$ 40,480.39	\$ 28.63	\$ 41,290.00
	2	\$ 26.68	\$ 38,472.56	\$ 28.00	\$ 40,369.37	\$ 28.70	\$ 41,378.60	\$ 29.27	\$ 42,206.17
	3	\$ 28.18	\$ 40,635.56	\$ 29.54	\$ 42,597.26	\$ 30.28	\$ 43,662.19	\$ 30.88	\$ 44,535.43
	4	\$ 28.74	\$ 41,443.08	\$ 30.12	\$ 43,429.00	\$ 30.87	\$ 44,514.73	\$ 31.49	\$ 45,405.02
	5	\$ 29.45	\$ 42,466.90	\$ 30.85	\$ 44,485.70	\$ 31.62	\$ 45,596.04	\$ 32.25	\$ 46,504.50

The vacation pay rates for 10-month employees are as follows:

April 1, 2024, 10-month employees will receive vacation pay in accordance with the chart below:

Year of Service	% Vacation Pay	
0-4	4%	
4+ - 10	6%	
10+ - 20	8%	
20+ - 28	10%	

Effective April 1, 2025, 10-month employees will receive vacation pay in accordance with the chart below:

Year of Service	% Vacation Pay
0-4	4%
4+ - 10	6%
10+ - 18	8%
0-4 4+ - 10 10+ - 18 18+ - 28	10%
28 years +	12%

#### Schedule "B"- Request for Functional Information



# Request for Functional Information of presenting illness/injury

Health and Abilities Specialist Halifax Regional Centre for Education 33 Spectacle Lake Drive Dartmouth, NS B3B 1X7 Phone: 464-2000 ext. 4121 Fax: 464-0135

PLEASE COMPLETE BOTH PAGES

The Halifax Regional Centre for Education (HRCE) (the Employer) has developed a return-to-work program to assist employees in their rehabilitation efforts to restore health and return to employment. Part of the process is to obtain information about your current abilities as they relate to your illness/injury. To do this, we ask that you have your physician or authorized health care professional complete this form.

Section 1 (To be completed by EMPLOYEE)				
Employee's Full Name:	Employee Number: 400			
Address:	Telephones:			
School/Site:	Telephone (Work):			
Immediate Supervisor:	Telephone (Work):			
for the purpose of developing a safe return to work plan. The emp this information be only of the same nature and extent as disclos Assessment form, and does not authorize the release of informati	formation related to my current illness or injury to my Employer oloyer will keep this information confidential. It is understood that ed in Section 2 of this Form and the attached Physical Capability on which is different in nature or greater in extent. I understand the Centre upon request and will be made aware of any further			
Employee's Signature:	Date:			
Section 2 (To be completed by Physician or Author Does Employee have any significant physical or cognitive impairment that currently impairs the employee from returning to unrestricted duties?         Is unrestricted duties?         NO       YES         Is the employee currently seeking active treatment?         Yes       No         If the employee is unable to return to work, how long will they be off?         2-4 weeks       1-3 mos.       3-6 mos.         Other, how long?	Drized Health Professional)         The impairment is:         Physical         Cognitive         Both         The Employee can return to work:         Unrestricted         Restricted         Unrestricted         Restricted date:			
When are you reassessing this Employee (date)? Is the Employee being referred for further evaluation (date)?				
Are there workplace barriers or steps that the Employer could take	e to assist in rehabilitation and return to work?			

#### HRCE/CUPE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

#### Employee Name:

Halifax Regional Centre for Education

The employer and worker will use this information to plan the worker's early and safe return to work; therefore, it is crucial that all applicable sections be completed in full.

Section 3: Physician/Health Care Professional to complete. Please outline your patient's abilities							
and/or restrictions based on your objective medical evidence. Diagnostic or confidential							
information NOT REQUIRED.							
PHYSICAL (If applicable):							
Walking:     Standing:       □ Full abilities     □ Full abilities       □ Up to 30 min.     □ Up to 30 min.       □ Up to 60 min.     □ Up to 60 min.       □ Other:		Sitting:           □         Full abilities           □         Up to 30 min.           □         Up to 60 min.           □         Other:		Lifting from       Lifting from floor         floor to waist:       to shoulder:         Full abilities			
				Other □			
Pushing/Pulling:			Bending/twisting:		shoulder: es	Hand functioning:	
□ Up to 5 kg	Up to 5 steps			□ Limited		Left: Right:	
□ 5-10 kg □ 10-25 kg	5-10 steps  Other:	Please specify:				□ Full abilities □ Limited □	
Other:	Ouler					Linned G	
COGNITIVE (if applicable):							
Supervision of others: Full abilities Limited Unable to supervise	<ul> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Can occasionall meet deadlines</li> </ul>	Can occasionally		Attention and Concentration: <ul> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Can concentrate but needs regular breaks</li> <li>Concentration on detail is severely limited</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Performance on multiple tasks:</li> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Can handle multiple tasks if given extra time to complete</li> <li>Unable to multi-task</li> </ul>	
Tolerance       to       extern         stimulus:           □       Full abilities          □       Can cope with distracting stimulus for portion of the construction of the construction work in a quiet no distracting work environmer	others: Full abilities Limited ability to with others N Unable to intera	<ul> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Limited ability to interact with others</li> <li>Unable to interact with others</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Judgement and Decision making:</li> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Difficulty with planning, organizing and decision making</li> <li>Unable to plan, organize and make decisions</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Working memory:</li> <li>Full abilities</li> <li>Some challenges with retention and recall of information</li> <li>Severe challenges with retention and recall</li> </ul>	
Other cognitive limitation(s) not noted above that currently impairs the employee from returning to unrestricted duties Please describe:							
VOICE No Difficulty	Occasional Difficulty	Constant Difficulty	HEARINGN	Difficulty	Occasional Difficulty	_Constant Difficulty	

The HRCE offers immediate, confidential help for any concern for employees enrolled in a HRCE or NSTU benefit plan, through the Employee and Family Assistance Program(s).

- Non-teaching employee groups (CUPE, NSUPE, NSGEU, PEG): Morneau Shepell: 1-844-880-9142 or www.workhealthlife.com
- Teachers (NSTU): Resilience Program: 1-877-955-6788
- Can assist with: Addictions, Child/Elder Care, Health/Wellness, Legal/Financial Marital, Separation, Divorce, Stress, Career Planning

Health Care Provider: The information provided in	n this document is true and based on my						
examination of the patient.							
Print Name:	Signature:						
Professional Designation:	Date:						
Stamp with registration number:							
Mailing Address:							
Telephone Number:	Fax Number:						

Please consider billing us an amount of less than <u>\$45</u> CAN for completion of this form; please include an invoice with the completed form.

### Letter re: ECEs

This letter is to confirm the following, and such letter will be housed in the collective agreement:

March 8, 2023

CUPE Local 5047 (The Union) raised concerns related to Early Childhood Educators (ECEs) who work within the Pre-Primary program surrounding training and supports for members of this classification who require assistance supporting children with social/emotional or deregulation needs. Specifically, the Union wishes to ensure that there is a joint effort to best support ECEs and the diverse needs of children within our school communities that access the Pre-Primary program.

Through conversations in bargaining, there is an understanding that supports are available to ECEs, and the Employer is willing to discuss ways to facilitate reasonable training and supports to best support ECEs within the program. The Union and the Employer agree that the topic of training and supports available to ECEs will be a standing item for discussion at Labour Management Committee meetings during the life of this Collective Agreement. Further, where the Union provides reasonable notice of specific concerns with respect to this issue in advance of the Labour Management Committee meeting, the Employer will make reasonable effort to ensure that appropriate representatives attend said meeting for discussion on this issue.

AGREED TO on behalf of the Halifax Regional Centre for Education

Signature

23/2005

MM

29 2029